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IMPORTANT NOTICE  

This information memorandum (the “Information Memorandum”) has been prepared in 

connection with the Telio Holding ASA‟s (“Telio” or the “Company”)) acquisition of all the 

shares in NextGenTel AS (“NextGenTel” or “NGT”) from TeliaSonera Norge Holding AB (“TS”) 

(the “Transaction”).  

For the definitions of terms used throughout this Information Memorandum, see Section 8 

“Definitions and Glossary of Terms”. 

No shares or other securities are being offered or sold in any jurisdiction pursuant to this 

Information Memorandum. 

This Information Memorandum has been prepared to comply with section 3.5 of the Oslo Stock 

Exchange‟s Continuing obligations of stock exchange listed companies (the “Continuing 

Obligations”), and was submitted to the Oslo Stock Exchange for review before publication. 

This Information Memorandum is not a prospectus and has neither been reviewed nor 

approved by the Norwegian Financial Supervisory Authority (“NFSA”) or the Oslo Stock 

Exchange in accordance with the rules that apply to prospectuses. This Information 

Memorandum has been prepared in an English version only.  

The Company has engaged Arctic Securities ASA as financial advisor (“Arctic Securities”) in 

connection with the Transaction. 

All inquiries relating to this Information Memorandum must be directed to the Company. No 

other person is authorised to give any information about, or to make any representations on 

behalf of, the Company in connection with the Transaction. If any such information is given or 

made, it must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Company or by any of their 

affiliates, advisors or selling agents.  

The information contained herein is as of the date hereof and is subject to change, completion 

and amendment without further notice. Neither the delivery of this Information Memorandum 

nor the completion of the Transaction at any time after the date hereof shall under any 

circumstances imply that there has been no change in the Company‟s affairs or that the 

information set forth herein is correct as of any date subsequent to the date hereof. 

The contents of this Information Memorandum shall not be construed as legal, business or tax 

advice. Each reader of this Information Memorandum should consult its own legal, business or 

tax advisor as to legal, business or tax advice. If you are in any doubt about the contents of 

this Information Memorandum, you should consult your stockbroker, bank manager, lawyer, 

accountant or other professional adviser. 

The distribution of this Information Memorandum in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by 

law. The Company requires persons in possession of this Information Memorandum to inform 

themselves about, and to observe, any such restrictions. No action has been or will be taken 

in any jurisdiction by the Company that would permit the possession or distribution, directly or 

indirectly, of any documents relating to the Transaction or any amendment or supplement 

thereto, including, but not limited to, this Information Memorandum, in any country or 
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jurisdiction where specific action for such purpose is required. The Company has not 

registered, and does not intend to register, any of the shares issued by the Company under 

the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended.  

Investing in the Company‟s shares involves risks. See Section 1 "Risk Factors" below. 

This Information Memorandum is subject to Norwegian law, unless otherwise indicated herein. 

Any dispute arising in respect of this Information Memorandum is subject to the exclusive 

jurisdiction of the Norwegian courts, with Oslo District Court as legal venue. 

Presentation of financial information  

The financial information contained in this Information Memorandum relating to the Company 

has been prepared in accordance with International Financing Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

This Information Memorandum presents financial information derived from the Company‟s 

unaudited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 31 December 2012 

and audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended 31 December 

2011, 2010 and 2009, each as incorporated by reference hereto (see Section 5.16). 

The financial information contained in this information Memorandum relating to NGT has been 

derived from NGT‟s unaudited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended 

31 December 2012 and audited consolidated financial statements as of, and for the years 

ended, 31 December 2011, 2010 and 2009, which have been prepared in conformity with the 

accounting principles generally accepted in Norway.  

This Information Memorandum also includes unaudited pro forma condensed combined 

financial information giving effect to the Transaction, as if the Transaction had been completed 

on 1 January 2012 for purposes of the statement of income for the year 2012 and on 31 

December 2012 for the purposes of the statement of financial position. The unaudited pro 

forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared on a basis consistent with 

IFRS and has been based on financial information derived from the unaudited consolidated 

financial statement of the Company for the twelve months ended 31 December 2012 and the 

unaudited consolidated financial statement for NGT for the year ended 31 December 2012. 

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not necessarily 

represent the financial position or results of operations of the Company had the Transaction in 

fact occurred on such dates and is not necessarily indicative of the financial position or results 

of operations of the Company for any future date or period.  

Cautionary note regarding forward looking statements 

This Information Memorandum contains forward-looking statements. Forward-looking 

statements include all statements that are not historical facts, and may be identified by words 

such as “anticipates”, “believes”, “expects”, “intends”, “plans”, “projects”, “seeks”, “should”, 

“will” or “may” or the negatives of these terms or similar expressions. These forward-looking 

statements are based on the Company‟s present plans, estimates, projections and 

expectations. They are based on certain expectations, which, even though they seem to be 

adequate at present, may turn out to be incorrect. No assurance can be given that the 

expectations expressed in these forward-looking statements will prove to be correct. Actual 
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results could differ materially from expectations expressed in the forward-looking statements 

if one or more of the underlying assumptions or expectations proves to be inaccurate or is 

unrealized. Numerous factors may cause the Company‟s actual results to differ materially from 

historical or anticipated results, some of which are beyond the Company‟s control. Any 

forward-looking statements contained in this Information Memorandum should not be relied 

upon as predictions of future events. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the 

forward-looking statements contained in this Information Memorandum, which represent the 

best judgment of the Company‟s management as of the date of this Information 

Memorandum. Except as required by applicable law, the Company does not undertake 

responsibility to update these forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 

information, future events or otherwise. Readers are advised, however, to consult any further 

public disclosures made by the Company, such as filings made with the Oslo Stock Exchange 

or the Company‟s press releases. 
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1 RISK FACTORS  

1.1 General 

In addition to the other information set out in this Information Memorandum, the following 

risk factors should be carefully considered when analysing the Company and/or the 

Transaction, including the related financing. The risks described below could have a material 

adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of the Company. 

Accordingly, the risks described herein could have a material adverse effect on the trading 

price of the Shares. The information below does not purport to be exhaustive. Additional risks 

and uncertainties not presently known to the Company or that the Company currently deems 

immaterial may also have a material adverse effect on the business, financial conditions or 

results of operations of the Company. 

1.2 Risks related to the Group and the industry  

1.2.1 Competition 

The telecommunications industry is highly competitive. The Company faces intense 

competition from traditional telephone companies, wireless companies, cable companies, 

alternative voice communication providers and broadband providers. The Company‟s success 

is dependent on its ability to retain current and attract new customers. Many of the Company‟s 

competitors can use substantial resources to develop competing services that may be more 

attractive to customers. In addition, some of the Company‟s competitors offer other 

telecommunication services and may bundle voice over internet protocol (“VoIP”) or 

broadband services with other products to create a more attractive service offering for 

customers than the Company‟s services. The customers are also in general less loyal to its 

voice telephone operator and hence they have a lower threshold to switch to a new services 

provider. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to respond to existing and 

new sources of competition. The strong competition in the telecommunications industry and 

competition between alternative voice communications and broadband providers may make it 

difficult for the Company to attract and retain customers, result in lower prices for the 

Company‟s services or a loss of market share. Competition may therefore have material 

adverse effects on the Company‟s business, financial condition, results of operations or 

prospects. 

1.2.2 Decrease in telecommunication prices 

Customers who currently use the Company‟s services may switch to other service providers if 

the Company is not able to offer services at attractive prices. A decrease in telecommunication 

prices in general may thus force the Company to lower its prices to remain competitive and/or 

result in a loss of customers and market share. 

1.2.3 VoIP technology acceptance 

Some consumers may choose not to adopt the VoIP technology e.g. due to the fact that VoIP 

services are different from analogue telephony services in some aspects:  
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 Different from analogue fixed line telephony services (but similar to ISDN), the 

Company‟s VoIP service is interrupted in the event of a power failure or loss of 

internet access by a consumer.  

 Access to emergency calling services: similar to ISDN, loss of power or internet access 

may cause significant delays and even failure of emergency assistance calls. In 

addition, public safety answering points may not be able to see the caller‟s actual 

location information.  

 Although VoIP will give better call quality through wide band voice, there is in general 

a higher risk of disturbances, such as echoes and delays in transmissions. 

This may limit the Company‟s ability to grow. 

1.2.4 Technological development 

The telecommunications industry is characterised by rapid changes in technology, new 

evolving standards, emerging competition and frequently new product and service 

introductions. The Company‟s future business prospects are to a large degree dependent on its 

ability to meet changing customer preferences, to anticipate and respond to technological 

changes and to develop effective and competitive relationships with its customers. There can 

be no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully respond to new technological 

developments and challenges or identify and respond to new market opportunities and new 

services. Future technological development could have material adverse effects on the 

Company‟s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.  

In addition, the Company‟s efforts to respond to technological innovations and competition 

may require significant financial investments and resources. Furthermore, there can be no 

assurance that the Company will have the necessary financial and human resources to 

respond to new technological changes and innovations and emerging competition. 

1.2.5 Dependence on retaining and recruiting knowledgeable employees 

The Company‟s success depends in a large part upon its ability to recruit, motivate and retain 

highly skilled employees with the functional and technical skills and experience necessary to 

develop and deliver the Company‟s services. There can be no assurance that the Company will 

be able to recruit, motivate and retain sufficient numbers of qualified employees in the future. 

A failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on the Company‟s business, financial 

condition, results of operations or prospects. 

1.2.6 Interruptions and dependence on third party facilities and equipment 

Parts of the Company‟s operations are dependent upon facilities and equipment owned and/or 

operated by third parties and therefore beyond the Company‟s control. These include a 

broadband internet connection, alternatively other internet connections such as cable, and 

electrical power supply. If there are interruptions in the internet connection or electrical power 

supply the Company‟s customers may not be able to make or receive calls or make use of 

other of the Company‟s services, including emergency calls. Furthermore, the Company is also 

dependent upon several data connection points operated by third parties. Failure of such 

connection points may lead to customers experiencing interruptions when making or receiving 
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calls. Interruptions may adversely affect the perceived reliability of the Company‟s services 

and may lead to a loss of customers and market share, difficulty in attracting new customers 

and negative reputation, all of which could have material adverse effects on the Company‟s 

business, financial condition, results of operations, or prospects. 

1.2.7 Implementation of its strategies 

The Company´s strategy is, inter alia, to become one of the leading telecommunication 

companies in Norway. Maintaining and expanding the Company‟s operations and achieving its 

objectives involve inherent investments, costs and uncertainties and there is no assurance 

that the Company will achieve its objectives or other anticipated benefits. There is no 

assurance that the Company will be able to undertake its activities within their expected 

timeframe, that the investments and costs of the Company‟s objectives will be at expected 

levels or that the benefits of its objectives will be achieved within the expected timeframe or 

at all. The Company‟s strategy may also be affected by factors beyond its control, such as 

delays and limited availability of contracting firms and limited availability of acquisition 

opportunities. Any failures, delays or unexpected costs related to implementation of the 

Company‟s strategies could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, 

results of operations or prospects. 

1.2.8 Integration of NextGenTel 

The Company‟s acquisition of NextGenTel will involve the integration of businesses which 

previously operated independently. Such integration processes can be challenging and involve 

risks. There can be no assurance that the integration will be successful. Any delays, 

unexpected liabilities or unexpected costs incurred in the integration processes or failure to 

achieve synergies and other benefits contemplated by acquisition or the incorporation of 

NexGenTel in the Group may have a material adverse effect on the Company‟s business, 

financial condition, results of operations, or prospects.  

1.2.9 Dependency on agreements between NextGenTel and TeliaSonera 

As part of the acquisition, TeliaSonera AB and NextGenTel have signed a transitional services 

agreement, a supply agreement and a letter of intent framework services agreement. The 

transitional services agreement regulates the continued provision of certain deliverables to 

and from NextGenTel and entities in the TeliaSonera group during a transitional period until 

permanent deliverables have been established. The supply agreement regulates the joint 

execution of certain end customer agreements. The letter of intent framework services 

agreement sets out the parties‟ intention to negotiate in good faith to agree on the terms and 

conditions for NextGenTel‟s role as TeliaSonera‟s preferred partner for certain of the 

TeliaSonera services that NextGenTel provides in the Norwegian market today, as well as 

provision by NextGenTel of certain access and other products to TeliaSonera in Norway.  

The transitional services agreements and the supply agreements entered into force on the 

closing date of the acquisition. The transitional services agreement and the supply agreement 

have limited duration, and lapse of these agreements may have a material adverse effect on 

the Company‟s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. 

The negotiations for final agreements for provision of services included in the scope of the 

letter of intent framework services agreement will start after the closing of the transaction and 
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the outcome of such negotiations are per date not known. The outcome of such negotiations, 

including the duration and other terms and conditions of the final agreements may have a 

material adverse effect on the Company‟s business, financial condition, results of operations or 

prospects. 

1.2.10 Risks related to future growth 

The Company may acquire or contract companies, enterprises or assets in the future as a part 

of its growth strategy. The Company may experience difficulties in developing or integrating 

these additional assets, businesses and/or employees into the Group‟s existing operations. The 

Company‟s future growth will depend upon a number of factors, both within and outside of the 

Company‟s control. It may not be successful in expanding its operations, and any expansion 

may not be profitable, or may result in losses for the Company. This could ultimately have a 

material adverse effect on the Company‟s business, financial condition, results of operations or 

prospects. 

If the Group‟s operations continue to expand, the Group may need to increase the number of 

employees and enhance the scope of operational and financial systems to handle the 

increased complexity and a potential expansion of the Group‟s operations. The Company 

cannot give any assurance that it will be able to attract and retain qualified management and 

employees for this purpose or that the Group‟s current operational and financial systems and 

controls will be adequate as the Group grows. This could ultimately have a material adverse 

effect on the Company‟s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. 

1.3 Financial risks  

1.3.1 Capital to pursue the Company’s growth strategy 

The Company has invested significant amounts with regards to product development and 

marketing. Additional investments may be required to pursue further growth and to respond 

to technological innovations and competition. There is no guarantee that the Company will be 

able to obtain additional funds on favourable terms or funds at all. Restrictions in the senior 

facilities agreement and the bond agreement to be entered into (in relation to the 

contemplated conversion of the bridge facility into bonds) may limit the Company's ability to 

obtain additional funds and also, to enter into agreements regarding acquisition of companies 

and other material corporate decisions. However, entering into such financial agreements or 

other agreements is always permitted subject to acceptance from Nordea Bank Norge ASA. 

Failure to obtain additional financing may adversely affect the Company‟s business, financial 

condition, results of operations or prospects and ability to maintain growth. 

1.3.2 Dependency on financing arrangements, funding of operations and future 

investments 

The Company is dependent on the current senior facilities agreement, and will be dependent 

on the contemplated bond agreement, renewal of these or obtaining new financing 

agreements to fund its operations, future acquisitions, working capital or capital expenditures. 

The Company cannot assure that it will be able to obtain any additional financing or retain or 

renew current financing upon expiry on terms that are acceptable, or at all. An increase in the 

Company‟s level of debt financing or adverse change in the terms of its current financing 

agreements, may increase financing costs and reduce the Company‟s profitability. 
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The senior facilities agreement contains, and the contemplated bond agreement will contain, 

terms and conditions that restrict the Company‟s freedom to operate and manage the 

Company‟s business. The senior facilities agreement is based on the current LMA 

Recommended Form of Senior Term Loan Facilities Agreement for Acquisition Finance 

Transactions, which contains standard terms and conditions, including, inter alia, mandatory 

prepayment clauses, a number of representations and warranties, financial covenants, general 

undertakings and clauses regarding events of default and acceleration. Such terms require the 

Company, inter alia, to maintain debt service coverage ratios and leverage ratios and use its 

assets, including its cash balances, receivables and shares as collateral for the loans. Further, 

the terms of the finance agreements restrict the Company‟s ability to pay dividends or 

distribute funds to its shareholders, unless certain conditions are fulfilled.  

If the Company becomes unable to comply with the restrictions and financial covenants in its 

agreements related to debt financing or to service its debt when due, a default under the 

terms of the finance agreements will occur, which could, dependent on the relevant lender(s), 

result in an acceleration of repayment of funds that have been borrowed and have a material 

adverse effect on the Company‟s business, financial condition, results of operations or 

prospects and in worst case lead to a bankruptcy.  

1.3.3 Ability to service debt 

Should the financing of the Group not be sufficient to meet the Group‟s financing needs the 

Group may be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditures, seek additional equity capital or 

to restructure or refinance its debt. There can be no assurance that such measures would be 

successful or would be adequate to meet debt and other obligations as they come due, or 

would not result in the Group being placed in a less competitive position, which may have a 

material adverse effect on the Company‟s business, financial condition, results of operations, 

or prospects. 

1.3.4 Liquidity risk 

The Group is dependent upon having access to long-term funding and other loans and debt 

facilities to the extent its own cash flow from operations is insufficient to fund its operations 

and capital expenditures. In turn, the Group must secure and maintain sufficient equity capital 

to support such borrowing facilities. 

There can be no assurance that the Group may not experience net cash flow shortfalls 

exceeding the Group‟s available funding sources nor can there be any assurance that the 

Company or the Group will be able to raise new equity, or arrange new borrowing facilities, on 

favourable terms and in amounts necessary to conduct its on going and future operations, 

should this be required. Any additional equity financing may be dilutive to existing 

shareholders. 

1.3.5 Interest rate risk 

The Company currently has certain indebtedness under existing debt facilities which is subject 

to variable interest rates. Interest rates are influenced by and highly sensitive to many 

factors, including but not limited to governmental, monetary and tax policies, domestic and 

international economic and political conditions, and other factors beyond the Company‟s 
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control. Changes in interest rates could have a material adverse effect on the Company‟s 

business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.    

1.3.6 Currency risk 

The Company is exposed to different currencies. Changes in foreign exchange rates, to the 

extent the Company has not hedged such changes, may have a negative effect on the 

Company‟s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. 

1.3.7 Credit risk 

The Company has economic exposure against its customers in its ordinary course of business 

(trade receivables). Any bankruptcy, insolvency or inability by the Company‟s customers to 

pay their invoices when they fall due may adversely affect the Company‟s business, financial 

condition, results of operations or prospects. 

1.3.8 Risks related to regulation 

In the present Norwegian telecom market, smaller players like Telio are dependent on the 

existence of network access regulation of the highly dominant player, Telenor. Telenor is the 

largest provider of telecom services in Norway, as well as the key supplier on the wholesale 

level. In the absence of efficient regulation, there is a risk of anti-competitive measures being 

applied by Telenor, such as predatory pricing or margin squeeze which could adversely affect 

Telio in the future. There is a general risk related to the efficiency and timeliness of Norwegian 

surveillance authorities in ensuring compliance with the regulations. 

Interconnection is required to complete voice and internet transmissions that originate and / 

or terminate outside the Company‟s network. Under Norwegian telecommunications law, 

providers of public telecommunications networks and services with significant market power 

such as Telenor, are required to negotiate and enter into interconnection agreements with 

Telio with respect to certain defined services and resources. In the event Telenor should not 

adhere to the regulatory requirement of granting interconnection access to anybody asking for 

it, it may adversely affect the Company‟s business, financial condition, results of operations or 

prospects. 

In general, changes in laws and regulations may have a material adverse effect on the 

Company‟s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. 

1.3.9 Tax and VAT risks 

Changes in laws and regulations regarding tax and other duties/charges, including but not 

limited to VAT, may involve new and changed parameters applicable to the Company and 

taxation of/charges for the Company at higher levels than as of the date hereof. Tax 

implications of transactions and dispositions of the Company are to some extent based on 

judgment of applicable laws and regulations pertaining to taxes and duties/charges. It cannot 

be ruled out that the tax or charges authorities and courts may assess the applicability of 

taxes and charges to the Company differently from the Company itself. An occurrence of one 

or more of the aforementioned factors may have a material adverse effect on the Company‟s 

business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects.    
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1.4 Risk factors relating to the Shares  

1.4.1 Volatile market price of the Shares and limited liquidity 

The trading price of the Shares could fluctuate significantly, e.g. in response to quarterly 

variations in operating results, adverse business developments, interest rates, changes in 

financial estimates by securities analysts, matters announced in respect of major business 

partners or competitors, or changes to the regulatory environment in which the Group 

operates or macroeconomic fluctuations. The market price of the Shares could decline due to 

sales of a large number of the Shares in the market or the perception that such sales could 

occur. Such sales could also make it more difficult for the Company to offer equity securities in 

the future at a time and at a price that are deemed appropriate or when required. 

The Shares have in the past, and may also in the future, experience limited liquidity. There 

can be no assurance as to the liquidity of the Shares in the secondary market, the ability of 

the holders of the Shares to sell their Shares or the price at which the holders would be able 

to sell their Shares. The liquidity of the trading market in the Shares, and the market price 

quoted for the Shares, may be adversely affected by changes in the Group‟s financial 

performance or prospects or in the prospects for companies in the Group‟s industry in general. 

As a result, holders cannot be certain that an active trading market will develop for the 

Shares. It may not be possible to sell the Company‟s Shares at attractive terms or at all. 

1.4.2 Ability to pay future dividends  

The Company‟s ability to pay dividends to shareholders is, together with the restrictions of the 

facilities agreement, dependent upon the Company receiving sufficient funds from its 

operating subsidiaries. Funds may be transferred to the Company from subsidiaries by way of 

dividends, intra-group loans or group contributions, where possible. In addition to the need for 

profitability of its operating subsidiaries, there may exist or be imposed restrictions on a 

company‟s ability to pay dividends, or otherwise transfer funds, to parent or holding 

companies. Furthermore, any restrictions in financing arrangements may reduce and/or 

restrict the ability to transfer funds between Group companies. Restrictions, by law or 

regulations or in financing arrangements, can affect the Group‟s ability to pay dividends to 

shareholders. This may have a material adverse effect on the Company‟s business, financial 

condition, results of operations or prospects. 

1.4.3 Shareholders may be diluted if they are unable to participate in future offerings 

Because non-Norwegian investors may be unable to participate in future offerings, their 

percentage shareholding may be diluted. Unless otherwise resolved by the general meeting, 

shareholders in Norwegian public companies such as the Company have pre-emptive rights 

proportionate to the aggregate amount of the shares they hold with respect to new shares 

issued by the Company. For reasons relating to foreign securities laws or other factors, foreign 

investors may not be able to participate in a new issuance of shares or other securities and 

may face dilution as a result. 

1.4.4 Exercise of voting rights for Shares registered in a nominee account 

Beneficial owners of the Shares that are registered in a nominee account (such as through 

brokers, dealers or other third parties) may not be able to vote for such Shares unless their 

ownership is re-registered in their names with the VPS prior to the Company‟s general 
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meetings. The Company cannot guarantee that beneficial owners of the Shares will receive the 

notice of a general meeting in time to instruct their nominees to either effect a re-registration 

of their Shares or otherwise vote for their Shares in the manner desired by such beneficial 

owners. 

1.4.5 Future sales of Shares by the Company’s primary insiders or major shareholders  

The market price of the Shares could decline as a result of sales of a large number of Shares 

in the market or the perception that these sales could occur, or any sale of Shares by any of 

the Company‟s primary insiders or other major shareholders from time to time. These sales, 

or the possibility that these sales may occur, might also make it more difficult for the 

Company to issue or sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price it deems 

appropriate or when required.  

1.4.6 Certain restrictions on sale and transfer  

The Company has not registered the Shares under the United States Securities Act of 1933 

(the “U.S. Securities Act”) or the securities laws of other jurisdictions than Norway and the 

Company does not intend to do so in the future. The Shares may not be offered or sold in the 

United States or to U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S), nor may they be offered or sold 

in any other jurisdiction in which the registration of the Shares is required but has not taken 

place, unless an exemption from the applicable registration requirement is available or the 

offer or sale of the Shares occurs in connection with a transaction that is not subject to such 

restrictions. There can be no assurances that shareholders residing or domiciled in the United 

States or other jurisdictions outside Norway will be able to transfer the Shares freely or to 

participate in future share issues or to receive or exercise any subscription rights for new 

Shares.  

1.4.7 Exchange rate risk for shareholders outside of Norway 

The Shares are priced in Norwegian kroner (“NOK”), the lawful currency of Norway, the 

trading price of the Shares on Oslo Børs is quoted in NOK and any future payments of 

dividends on the Shares will be denominated in NOK. Accordingly, any investor outside 

Norway is subject to adverse movements in the NOK against their local currency, as the 

foreign currency equivalent of any dividends paid on the Shares or price received in 

connection with any sale of the Shares could be materially adversely affected. 

1.5 Other risks 

1.5.1 Unaudited pro forma financial information  

This Information Memorandum contains unaudited pro forma financial information, which gives 

effect to the Transaction. The unaudited pro forma financial information is based on 

preliminary estimates and assumptions which the Company believes to be reasonable and is 

being furnished solely for illustrative purposes and is not necessarily indicative of what the 

Company‟s and NextGenTel‟s combined results of operations would have been had the 

Transaction occurred on 1 January 2012 and what the combined balance would have been had 

the Transaction occurred on 31 December 2012. 
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1.5.2 Action against the Company may be limited under Norwegian law 

The Company is a public limited company incorporated under the laws of Norway. The rights 

of holders of Shares are governed by Norwegian law and by the Articles of Association. These 

rights differ from the rights of shareholders in other jurisdictions, e.g. typical U.S. 

corporations. In particular, Norwegian law limits the circumstances under which shareholders 

of Norwegian companies may bring derivative actions. Under Norwegian law, any action 

brought by the Company in respect of wrongful acts committed against the Company takes 

priority over actions brought by shareholders in respect of such acts. In addition, it may be 

difficult to prevail in a claim against the Company under, or to enforce liabilities predicated 

upon, foreign securities laws. For these reasons investors may encounter difficulties in serving 

summons and other documents relating to court proceedings to any of the entities within the 

Group and its management. For the same reason it may be more difficult and more costly for 

investors to obtain judgments against, and enforce judgments issued against, the entities 

within the Group and its directors and management. 

1.5.3 Litigation  

The inherent risks in the Company‟s business expose the Group to litigation, including 

personal injury litigation, environmental litigation, contractual litigation with customers and 

suppliers, intellectual property litigation, tax or securities litigation, and lawsuits including the 

possible arrest of the Group‟s houses and/or properties and/or other assets. The Company 

anticipates that the Group will in the future be involved in, litigations and other disputes from 

time to time. The Company cannot predict with certainty the outcome or effect of any claim or 

other litigation or dispute. Any future litigation or dispute may have a material adverse effect 

on the Company‟s business, operations, financial position, results of operations, cash flow 

and/or prospects, because of potential negative outcomes, the costs associated with 

prosecuting or defending such lawsuits or claims, and the diversion of management's attention 

to these matters.  
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2 STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

2.1 Statement from the Telio Holding ASA Board 

The Board of Directors of Telio Holding ASA hereby confirms that, having taken all reasonable 

care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Information 

Memorandum is, to the best of our knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no 

omission likely to affect its import.  

Oslo, 19 February 2013 

 

Erik Osmundsen 
 

Liv Bergtorsdottir Aril Resen 

 

Arnhild Schia Haakon Dyrnes  
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3 THE TRANSACTION 

3.1 Overview of the Transaction  

On 19 December 2012, Telio Holding ASA and TeliaSonera Norge Holding AB signed an 

agreement whereby Telio shall acquire TeliaSonera Norge Holding AB‟s wholly owned 

subsidiary NextGenTel AS. Through the Transaction, which was completed on 31 January 

2013, Telio became the number three provider of fixed broadband in the Norwegian market 

and the number two provider of xDSL broadband.  

3.2 Background and rationale for the Transaction  

The Norwegian telecom market is undergoing rapid changes driven by technological 

developments and altered communication patters between people. These changes require 

swift adaptation by the providers of telecommunication services. Telio has provided VoIP 

services for a number of years in the Norwegian market and has recently expanded its product 

offering to include related services, including mobile and broadband services (through an 

agreement with NextGenTel). The Transaction will not only secure Telio in-house capabilities 

and delivery of such broadband services, but also significantly expand Telio‟s customer base. 

The combined entity will thus have substantial potential for cross-selling of services to the 

combined company‟s customer portfolio. Furthermore, the combined entity will have 

significant potential for realizing scale benefits and more cost effective operations.  

3.3 The Transaction and its agreements 

Telio signed on 19 December 2012 an agreement to acquire NextGenTel for a purchase price 

of NOK 601 million free of interest-bearing debt, but with NOK 30 million in cash at closing. 

Further, as part of the Transaction, TeliaSonera AB and NextGenTel have signed a transitional 

services agreement, a supply agreement and a letter of intent framework services agreement. 

The transitional services agreement regulates the continued provision of certain deliverables to 

and from NextGenTel and entities in the TeliaSonera group during a transitional period until 

permanent deliverables have been established. The supply agreement regulates the joint 

execution of certain end customer agreements. The letter of intent framework services 

agreement sets out the parties‟ intention to negotiate in good faith to agree on the terms and 

conditions for NextGenTel‟s role as TeliaSonera‟s preferred partner for certain of the 

TeliaSonera services that NextGenTel provides in the Norwegian market today, as well as 

provision by NextGenTel of certain access and other products to TeliaSonera in Norway. All 

three agreements will entered into force on the closing date of the Transaction. The 

Transaction was financed by Telio through a combination of debt and equity, where Telio has 

entered into a loan agreement with Nordea Bank Norge ASA for a NOK 200 million term loan 

and a NOK 300 million bridge-loan. 

3.4 Valuation of NextGenTel in the Transaction 

The valuation in the Transaction is fixed following negotiations and is a result of a complete 

evaluation of NextGenTel‟s market value, its future earnings potential and value of expected 

revenue and cost synergies which the Transaction gives basis to realise.  

The agreed purchase price for NextGenTel is NOK 601 million free of interest-bearing debt, but 

with NOK 30 million in cash at closing valuation in the Transaction.  
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3.5 The consideration 

3.5.1 The consideration  

The Transaction was financed by Telio through a combination of debt and equity as follows 

 Cash consideration of NOK 531 million, secured through: 

o NOK 500 million in debt facilities from Nordea Bank Norge ASA 

o NOK 30 million in a loan from T. D. Veen AS, an existing Telio shareholder, 

which was converted into equity at closing of the Transaction by issue of 

1,200,000 new Telio shares at NOK 25 per share. The loan was drawn on 28 

January 2013 and converted to shares in connection with closing of the 

Transaction on 31 January 2013 

o NOK 1 million in own cash 

Share consideration of NOK 70 million 

 Directed share issue of 2,690,480 shares issued to TS at closing of the Transaction 

(“Consideration Shares”). The number of Consideration Shares has been determined 

based on the volume weighted share price of Telio for a 90 days period ending two 

days prior to signing of the share purchase agreement for the Transaction (~NOK 

26.02 as of 17 December). 

The key terms of the debt facilities from Nordea Bank Norge ASA are: 

 Term loan – NOK 200 million 

o 3 year term loan 

o To be repaid in semi-annual instalments of 2 x NOK 25 million, 2 x NOK 35 

million and 2 x NOK 40 million 

 Bridge-loan of NOK 300 million in the period from closing of the Transaction to 

settlement of a planned bond issue in 2013 

o 9 month bridge-loan 

 

3.6 Board resolution in Telio Holding ASA 

The issuance of the Consideration Shares and the shares to be issued to T. D. Veen AS was 

resolved by Telio‟s board of directors at closing of the Transaction pursuant to the 

authorization granted by the general meeting on 12 April 2012. 
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3.7 Secondary sale of Consideration Shares to Telio shareholders other than 

T.D. Veen AS   

TeliaSonera has undertaken to, as soon as practically possible following closing of the 

Transaction, offer 1,200,000 Consideration Shares to shareholders in Telio as at the closing 

date (as registered in the shareholder registry on the third trading day after the closing date), 

other than T.D. Veen AS, at a price of NOK 25 per share. A national prospectus 

(registreringsprospekt), as defined in section 7-10 of the STA, will be published in connection 

with the secondary sale. The secondary sale will not be directed to shareholders who are 

resident in jurisdictions where such offering would be unlawful or (in jurisdictions other than 

Norway) require any prospectus filing, registration or similar action. The secondary sale is 

expected to be carried out early March 2013. 

TeliaSonera has entered into a European put option agreement with T. D. Veen AS in relation 

to the 1,200,000 Consideration Shares Telia Sonera intends to offer shareholders in Telio as at 

the closing date under which TeliaSonera has a right (but no obligation) to sell to T. D. Veen 

AS up to 800,000 Consideration Shares less the number of Consideration Shares sold and 

transferred from TeliaSonera to other Telio shareholders in connection with the secondary sale 

on 1 September 2013 at a price of NOK 25 per share. For the rest of its Telio shares, 

TeliaSonera has a lock-up for a period of 9 months from closing of the Transaction. 

3.8  Special rights or benefits  

No agreements to the benefit of the members of the Board of Directors or management of 

Telio or NextGenTel have been entered into, and no special rights or benefits shall accrue to 

the members of the Boards of Directors or management of Telio or NextGenTel in connection 

with the Transaction, cf. section 13-6, first paragraph no. 6 of the Public Limited Companies 

Act.  

3.9 Share Price Development of Telio  

Telio is listed on Oslo Børs. The development in the price of Telio‟s shares and its trading over 

the last 36 months is shown in the figure below. 

Telio has been listed on Oslo Børs since 2 June 2006. 

   

Source: FactSet as of 19 February 2012 
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The last quoted price before the announcement of the Transaction (18 December 2012) was 

NOK 25.5, which reflected a market value of NOK 494.5 million. The last 30 days volume, 

weighted average Telio share price prior to the announcement of the Transaction was NOK 

25.5 per share.  

3.10 Description of the Consideration Shares issued as consideration in the 

Transaction and the shares issued to T. D. Veen AS 

The Consideration Shares issued as consideration in the Transaction and the shares issued to 

T. D. Veen AS (collectively the “New Shares”) are ordinary shares in Telio having a nominal 

value of NOK 0.1. The New Shares was issued electronically in book-entry form in accordance 

with the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. 

The New Shares ranks pari passu in all respects with the existing shares of Telio and carry full 

shareholder rights from the time of registration of the share capital increase pertaining to the 

Transaction in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises. The New Shares is eligible for 

any dividends declared by Telio after said registration. All Shares, including the New Shares, 

has voting rights and other rights and obligations pursuant to the Norwegian Public Limited 

Companies Act, and are governed by Norwegian law. See section 5.12 for a further description 

of the rights which will be attached to the Shares. 

3.11 Admission to Trading 

The shares issued prior to announcement of the Transaction are currently admitted to trading 

on Oslo Børs. The New Shares in Telio issued to T. D. Veen AS was admitted to trading on 

Oslo Børs on the first day after closing of the Transaction and registration in the Norwegian 

Register of Business Enterprises, while the shares issued as consideration to the shareholder 

in NextGenTel will be admitted to trading on Oslo Børs after the publication of this Information 

Memorandum. 

3.12 Expenses relating to the Transaction 

Transaction costs and all other directly attributable cost in connection with transaction will be 

borne by the Company. Total costs related to the Transaction are expected to be in the range 

of NOK 6 million to NOK 8 million.  
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4 PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

4.1 Unaudited pro forma financial information related to the Transaction  

4.1.1 Purpose of the pro forma financial information 

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information has been prepared for 

illustrative purposes only. The pro forma information is based on certain management 

assumptions and adjustments made to illustrate what the financial results of Telio might have 

been had the proposed Transaction occurred on 1 January 2012. 

NextGenTel is composed of the following companies: NextGenTel AS and its subsidiaries 

Sandslimarka 31 AS and Broadpark AS. Thereafter NextGenTel would refer to NextGenTel and 

its subsidiaries.  

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information should be read in conjunction with 

Telio‟s published fourth quarter financial information and NextGenTel‟s audited financial 

statements for the year 2012. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial 

information addresses a hypothetical situation, and therefore, does not represent Telio‟s actual 

financial position or results as it would have been had the Transaction in fact occurred at an 

earlier date, and is not representative of the results of operations for any future periods.  

It should be noted that greater uncertainty is attached to the unaudited pro forma financial 

information than ordinary historical accounting information. Investors are cautioned against 

placing undue confidence on this unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial 

information. 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information shows how the Transaction might 

have affected Telio‟s consolidated profit and loss statement for the year 2012 if the 

Transaction had taken place on 1 January 2012. In addition, it is shown below how the 

consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2012 might have been if the Transaction had 

occurred at 31 December 2011.  

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information is based on the 

published fourth quarter financial information for the year ended 31 December 2012 for Telio 

(incorporated into this Information Memorandum by reference) and the audited financial 

statements of NextGenTel (included in this Information Memorandum as Appendix 2). Selected 

financial information for Telio is available in Section 5.15 and for NextGenTel in Section 6.7. 

4.1.2 Pro forma accounting principles 

Telio is presenting its financial statements in accordance with IFRS and NextGenTel in 

accordance with IFRS light. 

The accounting principles to be applied for the combined Telio and NextGenTel will be in 

accordance with those accounting principles outlined in Telio‟s annual financial statements for 

2012 apart from the treatment of customer acquisition cost and related establishment 

revenue. As the accounting policy for client acquisition cost and establishment revenue is 

going to be changed with effective date 1 January 2013, the accounting principles used for the 

presentation of pro forma figures already take into consideration this future change in 

accounting principle. Telio used to capitalize client acquisitions costs and to amortize it over a 
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12 month period. This is going to be changed in 2013 and these costs are going to be 

expensed as occurred. NextGenTel expenses acquisition costs as incurred.   

The effect of changes in accounting principles is disclosed in a separate column in the tables 

below. 

4.1.3 Sources of pro forma financial information – historical financial information 

The financial information for Telio has been extracted, without material adjustment, from the 

fourth quarter financial information incorporated to this Information Memorandum by 

reference (ref. Section 5.16 “Incorporation by reference”). 

The financial information for NextGenTel has been extracted, without material adjustment, 

from the unaudited financial statements for 2012 included in this Information Memorandum as 

Appendix 2. 

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information for Telio does not 

include all information required for financial statements under IFRS, and should be read in 

conjunction with the historical information for Telio and NextGenTel.  

KPMG AS has issued an Independent Assurance Report on the pro forma financial information 

for Telio as of 19 February 2013. The report is included as Appendix 1 to this Information 

Memorandum. 

4.1.4 Basis for preparation of the unaudited pro forma financial information 

The unaudited pro forma condensed financial information is based on the unaudited historical 

financial information of Telio and NextGenTel for 2012.  
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4.1.5 Unaudited pro forma condensed profit and loss statement 

4.1.5.1 Unaudited pro forma consolidated condensed profit and loss statement for the year 

ended 31 December 2012 

(NOK million) 
Telio 
2012 

NextGen
-Tel 

2012 

GAAP 
adjust-
ments Notes 

Pro 
forma 

adjust-
ments 

Pro 
forma  
2012 

        
 

    

Operating income ...............................  410 918 -1 1, 3 -10 1,316 

Cost of materials................................... e 162 467 -6 2, 3 -10 612 

Payroll and related costs ........................  69 151     220 

Depreciation .........................................  42 121 -22 1  141 

Other operating expenses ......................  85 169 23 1   277 

Total operating expenses ...................  357 908 -5  -10 1,251 

Profit/loss from operations ...............  53 10 4  0 66 

Net financial items .............................  -2 3 0 4 -28 -26 

Profit/loss before taxes .....................  51 13 4  -28 40 

Income tax ..........................................  -14 -4 -1 5 8 -11 

Result ................................................  37 9 3  -20 28 

 

4.1.5.2 Note 1: Harmonization of accounting principles for Telio 

Telio has decided to modify its accounting principles starting 1 January 2013 regarding the 

treatment of customer acquisition costs. This change is already reflected in the pro forma 

tables. The new accounting principle to be used by Telio is consistent with the current 

accounting principle used by NextGenTel.   

Telio‟s accounting principle for 2012 was to capitalize customer acquisition costs and to 

amortize these elements on a 12 month basis. From 1 January 2013, Telio has decided to 

change its accounting principle and as a result customer acquisition costs are going to be 

expensed when incurred. This is going to be treated as a change in accounting principle in 

accordance with IAS 8 in Telio‟s 2013 financial statements. In the pro forma figures, the effect 

for the year of this harmonization is recognized through the profit and loss statement and 

historical effect has been corrected directly through equity in the statement of financial 

position table presented below.  

In order to be consistent, corresponding deferred establishment revenues which are directly 

linked to the establishment/acquisition of a customer have also been adjusted for in the pro 

forma financial information.  

4.1.5.3 Note 2: Harmonization of accounting principles for NextGenTel  

NextGenTel changed its accounting principles regarding the accounting treatment of copper 

installation costs starting from April 2012. These costs were previously expensed as occurred, 

and were capitalized and amortized over 36 months starting 1 April on. In order to present 

uniform accounting principles for the entire period, an adjustment is presented in the pro 

forma tables. The purpose of this adjustment is to present information based on the same 
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accounting principles for the entire period and as such, the assumption taken is that the 

change in accounting principles had occurred as per 1 January 2012. 

4.1.5.4 Note 3: Elimination of transactions between NextGenTel and Telio  

During 2012, Telio received services from NextGenTel for a total amount of NOK 10.3 million. 

These sales / purchases are eliminated in the pro forma profit and loss statement and the 

corresponding account receivables / payables are eliminated in the pro forma balance sheet.  

4.1.5.5 Note 4: Financing 

The purchase of NextGenTel was financed by external loans for an amount corresponding to 

NOK 500 million. Interest on these loans has been calculated taking into consideration the 

interest level at sign-off date and adjusted for in the pro forma profit and loss statement. The 

nominal value of the loan was also adjusted for in the pro forma balance sheet and based on 

the repayment schedule; part of the loan was classified as short term. Please note that 

accrued interest has not been adjusted for in the pro forma balance sheet.   

4.1.5.6 Note 5: Tax 

A tax effect calculated as 28% of the other adjustment recorded in the pro forma profit and 

loss has been reflected.  

4.1.5.7 Note 6: Excess value 

The acquisition identified excess value of NOK 173 million. Based on the preliminary purchase 

price allocation it was identified that booked intangible assets in NextGenTel for a total amount 

of NOK 59 million are considered without value and as such the necessary impairment has 

been taken into consideration in the preliminary PPA. The remaining part of all excess values 

has been allocated to goodwill. The final purchase price allocation in accordance with IFRS 3 

will be performed at a later stage. Consequently, this may lead to change in the recognition of 

identifiable assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities and goodwill. A different allocation could 

incur costs in the income statement. 

Preliminary PPA     NOK '000 

Purchase price 
  

    601 000  

Equity in NGT after distribution of excess cash       -427 778  

Excess value 
  

   173 222  

Intangible assets 
  

    -59 000  

Deferred tax 
  

     16 520  

Goodwill 
   

   215 702  

The share purchase agreement signed with NGT includes several price adjustment 

mechanisms that would affect the final consideration paid. As the closing balance has not yet 

been finalized (and as such, the extent of these adjustments is not totally determined/agreed) 

the effect of these potential adjustments has not been adjusted for in the pro forma figures 

disclosed above. This means that the consideration paid of NOK 601 million presented as a 

basis for the calculation of the goodwill will also be modified in the final PPA and have a direct 

impact of the goodwill that would be presented in the final PPA. 
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4.1.6 Unaudited pro forma condensed balance sheet 

(NOK million) 

Telio 
31.12.20

12 

NextGen
Tel 

31.12.20
12 

GAAP 
adjust-
ments Notes 

Pro-
forma 

adjust-
ments 

Pro 
forma  

31.12.20
12 

Fixed assets    
 

       

Intangible fixed assets ......................    46 202 -13 1, 6 157 392 

Property, plant and equipment ...........  10 254     265 

Long term receivables ......................  - - 6 2  6 

Total fixed assets  56 457 -7  157 662 

Current assets        

Accounts receivables ........................   39 152   3 -4 188 

Inventory ........................................  2 -     2 

Other receivables .............................  - 38    38 

Cash and cash equivalents ................  52 189  6 -159 82 

Total current assets  .....................  94 379 0  -162 310 

Total assets  ..................................  150 836 -7  -6 973 

   
       

Equity  

  

       

Share capital  ..................................  2 656   6 -655 2 

Share premium reserve ....................  - -  6 100 100 
Other paid-in equity / 
accumulated losses ..........................  12 -69 -6   78 14 

Total equity ...................................   14 587 -6  -478 116 

  
   

    

Non-current liabilities  
   

  
 Liabilities to financial 

institutions ...................................... e 1 -  6 425 426 

Deferred tax liabilities .......................  - -   6 -17 -17 

Other non-current liabilities  ..............  - -    - 

Total non-current liabilities  ..........  1 0 0  408 410 

Current liabilities        
Liabilities to financial 
institutions  .....................................  6 -  6 75 81 
Accounts payables and other 
payables .........................................  81 78  3 -4 156 

Public duties ....................................  20 16 4 5 -8 32 

Provisions (accruals of income) ..........  27 119 -4   141 

Other short term liabilities .................  1 35    36 

Total current liabilities  .................  135 249 -1  64 447 

Total equity and liabilities  ............  150 836 -7  -6 973 

  

 

4.1.7 Auditor’s report on unaudited pro forma financial information 

KPMG has issued an assurance report on the preliminary pro forma financial information which 

is included in Appendix 1. 
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4.2 The Transaction’s significance for Telio’s earnings, assets and liabilities  

Based on the pro forma consolidated statements for 2012, the Transaction would have 

decreased Telio‟s net consolidated profit by 24%. Total consolidated assets and liabilities 

would have increased by 549% and 530%, respectively. 

4.3 Accounting and tax effects  

Date of fiscal and accounting implementation of the transaction follows closing of the 

Transaction on around 31 January 2013. The Transaction does not trigger any known tax 

consequences for either Telio or NextGenTel.  
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5 PRESENTATION OF TELIO  

5.1 Overview 

Telio is a European fixed and mobile internet communications provider committed to 

continuously improving end-user experience by offering innovative and user friendly 

telecommunication and internet services consumers and businesses. A combination of Telio 

offerings can replace traditional fixed and mobile telephone services by using the Telio VoIP 

solution over a fixed or mobile broadband connection. Telio's flexible, scalable, access-

independent technology platform provides it with the ability to introduce innovative products 

and services.  

Telio is a Norwegian public limited liability company organised under the laws of Norway, with 

business registration number 985 968 098, and registered office at Harbitzalleen 2A, N-0275 

Oslo, Norway, telephone number +47 21 96 49 10. The legal and commercial name of Telio is 

Telio Holding ASA. The Company was incorporated on 12 August 2003 and registered in the 

Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises on 26 August 2003. Telio‟s shares are listed on 

Oslo Børs under ticker TELIO. 

Telio is the holding company of the Telio group of companies (the “Group”). As of 31 

December 2012, the Group had subsidiaries in 3 countries. The Group‟s head office is located 

in Oslo.  

5.2 History 

Telio was founded in 2003 by Aril Resen, Alan Duric and Espen Fjogstad, which all were 

veterans from Global IP Sound. The Company started its VoIP service in Norway in February 

2004 as the first in Norway and its initial service was a collection of VoIP services which 

collectively can act as a fixed line replacement service with flat fee pricing covering all fixed 

line destinations in Norway. In May 2006 Telio launched a GSM service available to all Telio 

VoIP customers in Norway and the company was listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange 2 June 

2006 with ticker TELIO. During 2009 and 2010 Telio acquired Bellit AS, launched video 

telephone, Telio Touch and Teliophone for the Norwegian market and entered the Swiss 

market. During 2011 and the beginning of 2012 Telio launched the SkyCall mobile apps for 

iPhone and Android phones (developed for the airline Norwegian Air Shuttle). Telio introduced 

broadband services in the Norwegian market from January 2012. 

5.3 Vision and mission  

From the outset, Telio‟s overriding vision has been to “make telecom minute fees a thing of 

the past”. 

Telio‟s mission is to be a major force in defining and providing fixed and mobile internet 

communications to the consumer and small businesses. 

5.4  Business overview  

5.4.1 General 

Telio specialises in the development, marketing and sales of IP-based services and 

communication solutions.  
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The Company‟s business concept is to offer voice over IP (VoIP) services at a fixed 

subscription fee with as much free calling and innovative features as possible. VoIP, also called 

broadband telephony, is a technology that enables consumers to replace the traditional phone 

line with a phone service using the internet. Telio differs from traditional telecom operators by 

using technology that enables the Company to offer the voice services over an internet 

connection that the subscriber already pays for. In technical terms this is called IP 

communication based on SIP. Since VoIP utilises the same infrastructure which is used to 

deliver other types of internet services the infrastructure costs for offering VoIP are 

significantly lower than the costs of offering traditional telecommunications networks. The 

Company is therefore able to offer telephone communication services at lower prices than the 

traditional telecom companies. Internet technology also opens up for a variety of innovative 

features that can be bundled to VoIP at very low costs.  

The Company has developed its own provisioning server for VoIP services. The offerings are 

tailor-made and targeted towards end users who appreciate simplicity with regard to technical 

setup. When signing up for the Company‟s VoIP services, the subscriber receives a telephone 

adapter or a phone with an integrated adapter which translates the telephone signal to data 

traffic. The subscriber only need to connect the received device to the broadband socket and 

the embedded provisioning software ensures that the equipment is immediately connected to 

the Company‟s servers and is provisioned with a dialling tone (plug and play installation). This 

feature is fundamental for the Company‟s offering because it allows for access independence 

and enables the customer to move the equipment around irrespective of where in the world he 

or she has broadband access. The same technology and principles is used for Teliophone 

where the adapter is pure software based, and embedded in the iOS and Android apps. 

In order to provide telecommunication services in Norway Telio has been granted a licence to 

supply such services from the Norwegian Post and Telecommunications Authority. Beside this 

licence there are no licences, agreements or contracts beside various normal business 

agreements which are important for the Company‟s business or profitability. 

5.4.2 Products 

Telio has from the start primarily targeted customers who call frequently, particularly to 

international destinations. The Group is providing both pure IP services and traditional 

broadband telephony services with interconnect where reduced termination prices to mobile 

and international to a large extent are being passed on to the end customer in the form of 

lower tariffs. Telio continues to build distribution for services to the SME market segment. 

Further development of the product portfolio and the services provided enables the company 

to target SMEs with a higher number of lines, expanding the company‟s reach to the business 

segment. The solution offers attractive features and functionalities that increase the efficiency 

of companies in this segment. Telio has firmly positioned itself on the SME map, with above 

13,000 active VoIP lines in Norway at the end of 2012. Telio has undertaken thorough 

analyses of the business market and views this as a market segment with great growth 

potential. 

5.4.2.1 Telio Touch 

Telio Touch was launched in the Norwegian market in the third quarter of 2010. Telio Touch is 

a high-end telephone with HD voice quality. The product comprises a wireless Dect handset 
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and a base that has a 7-inch touch screen. Through Telio Touch Service Suite, on the touch 

screen, users can find a wide variety of applications that enable them to keep on track with 

current news, check the weather forecast, check road traffic and public transport information, 

as well as watch YouTube videos, among others. At the end of 2012, the company had close to 

7,000 customers on this product. 

5.4.2.2 Teliophone 

Teliophone was launched in the Norwegian market during the fourth quarter of 2010. 

Teliophone is an app for iPhone and Android phones enabling unrestricted, high quality video 

and voice calling. Teliophone features unique set of standards based capabilities and user 

friendly provisioning. Through WLAN or 3G, with Teliophone it is possible to call any other 

number on the traditional fixed and mobile network as well as to other video and HD enabled 

terminals in Telio's network (and soon in other networks). Teliophone is available through 

Apple's (Norwegian) App store for Telio's existing subscribers (both residential and SME). The 

company had 12,000 users of Teliophone at the end of 2012. 

5.4.2.3 SkyCall 

The SkyCall app for iPhone and Android phones was introduced in the beginning of 2012. The 

SkyCall app is developed for Call Norwegian, a subsidiary of the airline Norwegian Air Shuttle. 

Norwegian was the first airline to introduce internet on-board the company's flights in Europe 

and is through the agreement with Telio providing mobile IP telephony services to its 

passengers in Norway and abroad. The service is based on Telio's technology platform which 

provides a high user experience with HD sound and high quality video communication. 

5.4.2.4 Broadband and Mobile 

In order to capitalize on the valuable customer base in Norway and to attract new customers, 

the company introduced new services at the end of 2011. The company now also offers fixed 

and mobile broadband services. With these services in addition to a MVNO (Mobile Virtual 

Network Owner) agreement, Telio provides a broad service offering to both the residential and 

the business segments.  

5.5 Telio after the Transaction 

Through the Transaction, Telio will become the number three provider of fixed broadband in 

the Norwegian market and the number two provider of xDSL broadband. The Transaction 

represents a step-change for Telio as it will more than double its size and significantly 

broadens its product offering in the core market in Norway. The Norwegian telecom market is 

undergoing rapid changes driven by technological developments and altered communication 

patterns between people. These changes require swift adaptation by the providers of 

telecommunication services. Telio has provided VoIP services for a number of years in the 

Norwegian market and has recently expanded its product offering to include related services, 

including mobile and broadband services (through agreements with NGT and Netcom).  

The Transaction will not only secure Telio in-house capabilities and delivery of such broadband 

services, but also significantly expand Telio‟s customer base. The combined entity will thus 

have substantial potential for cross-selling of services to the combined company‟s customer 

portfolio. Furthermore, the combined entity will have significant potential for realizing scale 

benefits and more cost effective operations 
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5.6 Legal structure after the transaction  

Upon completion of the Transaction NextGenTel will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of 

Telio. Telio will have approximately 9 directly and indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries and 

offices in 4 countries. In addition, Telio has two dormant subsidiaries (Teliofoni AB, Sweden 

and Telio IP Services BV, the Netherlands). 

The following chart depicts the Combined Group‟s high-level legal structure after completion of 

the Transaction:  

 

 

5.7 Market overview 

Telio has operations in Norway, Denmark, Switzerland and the Netherlands. In 2012, Telio 

sold services under its own brand to end users in Norway, Denmark and Switzerland. In the 

Netherlands, distribution is arranged through „white label‟ agreements under local brands. The 

majority of the revenues are generated in the Norwegian market and the international 

markets where Telio operates shows similar development characteristics as seen in Norway.  

5.7.1 The Norwegian telecom market 

5.7.1.1 The broadband market 

The number of residential fixed broadband subscriptions rounded one million in 2006, and at 

the end of the first half of 2012 the number had reached nearly 1.69 million. This is an 

increase of about 40,000 since the end of 2011.  

During the first half of 2012, the share of residential subscriptions based on xDSL fell from 

roughly 47 per cent to around 45 per cent, a reduction of just over 16,000 subscriptions. The 

number of subscriptions for broadband over cable TV networks has increased in recent years, 

and constitutes the second-largest form of access. About 32 per cent of residential subscribers 

have broadband over cable TV networks. The number of such subscriptions increased by over 

15,000 during the first half of 2012. 

Fiber-optics based broadband increased the most in the first half of 2012. From the end of 

2011 to the end of the first half of 2012, there was an increase of nearly 38,000 subscriptions. 

At the end of the first half of 2012, approximately 20 per cent of the residential broadband 

subscriptions were based on fiber-optics. Together, the number of residential subscriptions 
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based on radio access and other types of fixed access than those mentioned above rose by 

just under 3,000 in the first half of 2012. 

 

Source: Norwegian Post and Telecommunications Authority report “The Norwegian Electronic 

Communications Services Market 1 st half 2012 

By the end of the first half of 2012, 75 per cent of the households had fixed broadband. The 

graph above also shows that until 2007 an increasing share of households with fixed 

broadband also had VoIP. From 2008, this share has declined somewhat, and by the end of H1 

2012, 27 percent of the households with broadband also had VoIP. 

The number of business customers with fixed broadband has been relatively stable in recent 

years. At the end of the first half of 2012 there were roughly 143,000 business subscriptions 

for mobile broadband. Broadband over xDSL constitutes the decidedly largest share, while the 

number of fiber-optics based subscriptions is increasing significantly. Broadband over cable TV 

networks is rarely used in the business market, and is included in the "other" category. 

In the business category, a broad spectrum of technical solutions for data communications and 

Internet access is used. These range from the traditional broadband solutions, to other 

solutions such as data transmission - primarily IP-VPN. 

5.7.1.2 Fixed Telephony (incl. broadband telephony – VoIP) 

The fixed line market in Norway was a stable market with moderate growth for many years. 

However, over the past years the fixed line operators have experienced a major decline in 

subscriptions and traffic. So far there have been two reasons for the decline – dial up internet 

has migrated to broadband and voice traffic is migrating to the mobile networks. 
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Source: Norwegian Post and Telecommunications Authority report “The Norwegian Electronic 

Communications Services Market 1 st half 2012 

The total number of fixed-line subscriptions has been declining since 1996. The number of 

PSTN and ISDN subscriptions has fallen by 9.6 per cent from the end of the first half of 2011 

to the end of the first half of 2012. The decline in the number of PSTN and ISDN subscriptions 

is roughly 103,800 while the number of VoIP subscriptions fell by 9,700 to 489,500. This 

represents a decrease of 28,000 from the end of the first half of 2009 when the number of 

broadband subscriptions reached its peak. 

There were a total of 113,500 fewer fixed-line subscriptions at the end of the first half of 2012 

compared with the same date in 2011. The drop in the number of subscriptions is somewhat 

smaller than in the same period the previous year, and the relative decline seems to have 

stabilised. The reduction in the business market can be attributed to the increased use of 

other data transfer solutions such as xDSL and mobile broadband. This change is part of the 

explanation for the relatively large decline in ISDN compared to PSTN. 

In all, around 461,000 households had adopted VoIP by the end of the first half of 2012. This 

corresponds to 40 per cent of all residential fixed telephony customers, as opposed to 39 per 

cent at the end of the first half of 2011.  

5.7.2 Mobile Telephony and Mobile Data Market 

Just over 77 percent of all mobile telephony subscriptions are registered to residential 

customers. This share has been relatively stable at just over 77 percent in recent years. 

The total number of mobile data subscriptions at the end of the first half 2012 was just under 

761,000. This is an increase of about 120,000 since H1 2011. At the end of the first half of 

2012 the share of residential customers was just under 57 per cent. The percentage of 

residential customers has declined slightly in the two past years. Around 38 per cent of the 

increase in the number of subscriptions since the end of the first half of 2011 related to 

residential subscriptions. 
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The number of mobile residential subscriptions with data packets has declined by some 52,000 

since the end of the first half of 2011. At the end of the first half of 2012, just over 22 per 

cent of mobile subscriptions with data packets were registered to residential customers. 

During the same period, the number of business subscriptions with data packets has increased 

by roughly 126,000. 

Combined, the number of dedicated mobile broadband subscriptions and the number of mobile 

subscriptions with data packets passed 1.3 million in the first half of 2012. The majority of the 

subscriptions for dedicated mobile broadband are registered to residential customers, while 

the majority of mobile telephony subscriptions with data packets are registered to business 

customers. Overall, 42 per cent of these subscriptions are currently registered to residential 

customers. 

5.8 Trend information  

Telio has not experienced any changes or trends outside the ordinary course of business that 

are significant to Telio between 31 December 2012 and the date of this Information 

Memorandum. 

The board of Telio expects no significant short term changes in the markets and business 

environment in which Telio operates. 

5.9 Board of Directors, Management and employees  

5.9.1 Board of Directors 

The current Board of Directors comprise five directors (of whom all five are elected by the 

shareholders). The directors‟ term of office is two years. 

The following table lists the directors of the Board, including their positions, principal activities 

performed by them outside Telio (if significant to Telio) and number of Shares held in Telio, as 

at the date of this Information Memorandum. None of the Directors on the Board of Directors 

holds share options in respect of the Shares. 
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Name and position Principal activities 

 

Term expires 

Number 

of Shares 

Erik Osmundsen, 

(chairman) ...........................  

CEO, Norsk Gjenvinning 

Norge AS 

Annual General 

Meeting 2014 

515,502 

Liv Bergtorsdottir, 

(board member) ....................  

CEO, Nova Annual General 

Meeting 2014 

0 

Arild Resen 

(board member) ....................  

Co-founder of Telio and 

background as entrepreneur 

and angel investor 

Annual General 

Meeting 2014 

1,500,000 

Arnhild Schia 

(board member) ....................  

Chief Commercial Officer, T-

VIPS AS 

Annual General 

Meeting 2014 

0 

Haakon Dyrnes 

(board member) ....................  

Until 2011 CEO, Tele2 Norge 

AS 

Annual General 

Meeting 2014 

   0 

All of the directors of the Board of Telio are independent from Telio‟s executive management 

and material business contacts. The chair of the Board, Erik Osmundsen, represents one of 

Telio‟s major shareholders, Optinvest III AS. The Board of Directors satisfies the requirement 

of the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance that at least two directors shall 

be independent from major shareholders.  

The business address of each Director of the present Board of Directors is: Telio Holding ASA, 

Harbitzalleen 2A, N-0275 Oslo, Norway. 

Erik Osmundsen, Chairman of the Board: Erik Osmundsen was elected as Chairman of the 

Board on May 3, 2006. He is the CEO of Norsk Gjenvinning Norge AS, a Norway based waste 

management company. He has prior experience as Managing Partner of Creo Advisors AS, an 

advisory firm focusing on corporate finance services and strategic consulting. Before this, Erik 

was an Investment Director at Kistefos, and he also has worked as Senior Engagement 

Manager with McKinsey & Co. Erik has served as Board Member in several companies, 

including Kelkoo (Vice Chairman), Avenir, Photonyx and Zoomit (Chairman). Erik holds an 

MBA from Harvard Business School and an MSc in Business (Siviløkonom) from the Norwegian 

School of Management (BI).  

Liv Bergtorsdottir, Board Member: Liv Bergtorsdottir was elected to the Board of Telio 

Holding ASA in April 2010. She is CEO of Nova, an Icelandic 3G operator. Previously, Liv 

Bergtorsdottir was General Manager of SKO, a low cost mobile virtual network operator during 

2005-2006. She has been Sales & Marketing Director of Vodafone Iceland and Marketing 

Director of TAL, the first private mobile operator in Iceland. Liv Bergtorsdottir has a 

Cand.oecon degree from the University of Iceland in 1994.  

Arild Resen, Board Member: Aril Resen is a co-founder of Telio. He has been on the board 

of directors since the inception in 2003. Resen's background is as an entrepreneur and angel 

investor in several technology companies. He holds an MBA (SFSU San Francisco, 1990) and 

has previously worked at the San Francisco Stock Exchange, derivatives floor and as a 

stockbroker for Alfred Berg Norge AS.  
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Arnhild Schia, Board Member: Arnhild Schia was elected to the board of directors of Telio 

Holding ASA in April 2012. She is Chief Commercial Officer at T-VIPS AS (TV-Video over IP 

Solutions). She has held positions as Senior Vice President at Comptel Corporation Oyj, CEO at 

Comptel Communications AS (Telecommunications SW Solutions) and Incatel AS (Network 

Inventory Solutions) among others. She is currently a board member of Nordic Semiconductor 

ASA. Arnhild Schia holds a Master of Science (sivilingeniør) degree in Computer Science 

(1988) and a 3 year diploma in Business Administration (1994).  

Haakon Dyrnes, Board Member: Haakon Dyrnes was elected to the board of directors of 

Telio Holding ASA in April 2012. He was CEO at Tele2 Norge AS from 2006 until October 2011. 

Previously, he has held management positions at Telenor Telecom Solutions AS and Telenor 

Mobil AS. Haakon Dyrnes holds a Siviløkonom degree from University of Stirling (1991) and a 

Management Program in Strategic Management from Handelshøyskolen BI (1999).  

5.9.2 Management  

The present group management consists of seven executives. The following table lists the 

present members of Telio‟s executive management, including their positions and number of 

Shares and share option held in the Telio as at the date of this Information Memorandum. 

Name Position 

Number of Shares 

(share options) 

Eirik Lunde ...........................  CEO 107,252  

(280,000 options) 

Sven Ole Skrivervik ...............  CTO 20,000 

(75,000 options) 

Tom Nøttveit .........................  CFO 47,500  

(75,000 options) 

Jens Hetland .........................  Sales & Marketing Director, 

Residential 

68,000 

(25,000 options) 

Nina Forsberg Mathiesen ........  Director Customer Support & 
Services 

nil 

(5,000 options) 

Thomas Gunleiksrud ..............  Sales & Marketing Director, 

Business  
 

3,500  

(12,500 options) 

Erik Trondsen .......................  Product Director nil  

(nil option) 

The business address of each member of the present management is: Telio Holding ASA, 

Harbitzalleen 2A, N-0275 Oslo, Norway. 

Eirik Lunde, CEO: Eirik Lunde was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of Telio in April 2007. 

He was previous the CEO for Ventelo Norge A/S one of the Telecom providers in the Nordic 

region, which acquired Catch Communication A/S and Bluecom A/S, where Eirik Lunde held 

the position as respectively Executive Vice President and CEO. Prior to this he held the position 

as head of PC Broadband Services in Telenor, General Manager for Dell Norway, and various 

management positions in Digital Equipment Corporation. He holds a degree as marketing 

economist from NMH, and executive MBA from Insead and London Business School.  
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Sven Ole Skrivervik, Chief Technical Officer: Sven Ole Skrivervik took over the position as 

Telio's Chief Technology Officer in January 2013. He came from the position as Director 

Customer Services at Proact IT Norway AS, the Norwegian branch of the North European 

storage, backup and archiving integrator Proact IT Group, listed on the Stockholm stock 

exchange. Sven Ole Skrivervik came to Proact via Proact's acquisition of Xperion AS, a backup 

and archiving specialist where he was co-founder and Chief Technology Officer. Before this, he 

held the position as Chief Technology Officer at Ventelo Norge AS, one of the Telecom 

providers in the Nordic region, which acquired Catch Communication A/S and Bluecom A/S, 

where he respectively held the position as Chief Technology Officer. Prior to this, he worked in 

different management positions at Sun Microsystems Norway after leaving the position as 

Group IT Manager and Group Intranet Manager at Kværner ASA in Oslo. Sven Ole Skrivervik 

started his career in Skrivervik Data where he worked as a support engineer before he was 

appointed to several different management positions over the nearly 8 years he worked there. 

Sven Ole Skrivervik holds a bachelor degree in computer science from University of Bergen 

and an executive MBA from Norwegian School of Economics (NHH) specializing in management 

control.  

Tom Nøttveit, CFO: Tom Nøttveit was appointed Chief Financial Officer of Telio in August 

2007. He came from the position as CFO of Norman ASA, a listed data security software 

company, where he has had management positions within accounting and finance since 1997. 

Prior to this, he had various management positions within accounting and finance in Telenor 

after he started his career as an auditor at KPMG. He holds a degree in Business 

Administration (BBA) from Pacific Lutheran University and the Norwegian „Siviløkonom‟ 

degree.  

Jens Hetland, Sales & Marketing Director, Residential: Jens Hetland was appointed 

Commercial Director of Telio in November 2005. Hetland has more than 15 years of 

experience from different IT and Telecoms management positions. In the period up to 1992 he 

worked for Alcatel both in Belgium and Norway. In 1992 he worked as a product manager at 

Ericsson, before joining NetCom in early 1993. At Netcom he participated in the commercial 

launch, and held a number of different positions. When leaving he was a director responsible 

for NetCom‟s wholesale business, product pricing and product development. In 2000 he left 

and co-founded the telemedicine company Care4you. This company was sold to Locus in 2003, 

where Hetland was a system development manager before joining Telio. He holds a Master of 

Science degree in Electronics from NTNU.  

Nina Forsberg Mathiesen, Director Customer Support and Services: Nina Forsberg 

Mathiesen was appointed Director Customer Support and Services in August 2005. She has 

more than 10 years‟ experience from different Telecom positions. She has previous experience 

from Sense Communications Int. AS, Norway‟s first mobile service provider, as a Customer 

Care Manager for Norway and Sweden, Country Manager for the Swedish Market. Prior to this 

she worked as a Call Centre Director in Direkte Respons Senteret and had various positions in 

Telia Norge. She holds a Bachelor in economics from Handelshøyskolen BI.   

Thomas Gunleiksrud, Sales & Marketing Director, Business: Thomas Gunleiksrud was 

appointed Sales & Marketing Director for the Business market in April 2011. He has more than 

10 years‟ experience from various management positions within areas like IT, telecom, 

procurement, sourcing and logistics, project management and sales & marketing related 
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business. He has previous experience from among others the Norwegian Defence Logistics and 

has since 2005 had management positions in Ventelo. Gunleiksrud holds a Master of Science 

in Economics and Business Administration from Norges Handelshøyskole (NHH). 

Erik Trondsen, Product Director: Erik Trondsen was appointed Product Director of Telio in 

April 2012. He has more than 15 years‟ experience from various management positions within 

the telecom sector. He came from the position as Product and Marketing Director of Phonect, a 

IP telephony company to the business market. He has previous experience from companies 

like TDC, BaneTele, Enitel and Telia Norge. Trondsen holds a degree in International Marketing 

from OMH (Oslo Merkantile Høyskole).  

5.9.3 Election committee 

The election committee is required to carry out a search process to identify candidates for 

vacancies on the Board who satisfy the requirements specified by the committee, including 

their suitability in terms of impartiality, business ethics, gender and nationality. Taking into 

account these criteria, the election committee puts forward proposals for individuals to be 

elected to the Board for consideration by the annual general meeting. 

Since the 2012 annual general meeting, the members of the election committee are Peter 

Tusvik (Chair), Geir Moe and Nils A. Foldal.  

5.9.4 Board Committees 

Telio has established an audit committee. The company has evaluated the composition of the 

audit committee and concluded that the audit committee will comprise of all board members. 

The company has evaluated the establishment of a compensation committee and concluded 

that this task will be governed by the full board (the board has five members).  

5.9.5 Remuneration to the executive management 

Remuneration to the company's Chief Executive Officer is decided by the board of directors 

once a year. The remuneration guidelines for executive management and details of 

remuneration to executive management are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  

5.9.6 Conflicts of interests  

As far as Telio is aware, there are no conflicts of interest between the members of the Board 

of Directors‟ and the members of the executive management‟s duties to Telio and their private 

interests and/or other duties.  

During the last five years preceding the date of this document, no Director on the Board of 

Directors or the executive management has: 

 had any convictions in relation to fraudulent offences; 

 been publicly incriminated and/or sanctioned by any statutory or regulatory authorities 

(including designated professional bodies) or been disqualified by a court from acting 

as a member of the administrative, management or supervisory bodies of a company 

or from acting in the management or conduct the affairs of a company; or 

 been associated with any bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation.  
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5.9.7 Severance pay 

The members of the present management have the following service contracts with Telio 

providing for benefits upon termination of employment:  

The CEO has a severance pay scheme, but not the other key executives. If severance pay is 

agreed on with an employee who does not have this documented in his employment contract, 

then it shall be approved by the Chairman of the Board.  

Otherwise, no member of the Board of Directors or senior management has service contracts 

with the Telio group providing for benefits upon termination of employment.  

5.9.8 Employees  

As at 31 December 2012, Telio and its subsidiaries employed 118 full-time employees (FTEs). 

The number of employees of the Telio on a consolidated basis for the years ending 31 

December 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 is set out below: 

 2012 2011 2010 2009 

Number of permanent man years ...........  118 85 81 68 

Number of temporary man years ............  41 34 21 16 

Total number of man years ................  159 119 102 84 

 

5.9.9 Corporate governance 

The Company complies with the Norwegian corporate governance regime, as detailed in the 

Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance published on 23 October 2012 by the 

Norwegian Corporate Governance Board (the “Corporate Governance Code”). However, in 

connection with the Transaction, the Company made an exception from the Corporate 

Governance Code. The Company‟s issuance of Consideration Shares to TeliaSonera and 

directed share issue towards T.D. Veen AS do not comply with the Corporate Governance Code 

as shareholders‟ preferential right to participate in new share issuances was not given existing 

shareholders in connection with these transactions. These exceptions were necessary in order 

to establish the financing of the Transaction and to be able to complete the Transaction within 

a short time frame. In agreement with TeliaSonera, the Company plans to minimise 

shareholder dilution through a Secondary Sale of the Consideration Shares issued in 

connection with the Transaction to existing shareholders in Telio, other than T.D. Veen AS, at 

the closing of the Transaction. 

5.10 Capital resources  

5.10.1 Capital indebtedness 

The following table shows the actual capitalisation on a consolidated basis as per 31 December 

2012:  
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Amounts in NOK million 31 December 2012 
(unaudited) 

Share capital ......................................................................................   2 

Share premium reserve ........................................................................  20 
Own shares ........................................................................................  0 
Retained earnings ................................................................................  -8 
Minority interests ................................................................................  0 
Total equity ........................................................................................  14 
  

Long-term borrowings (secured/guaranteed)  .........................................  6 
Long-term borrowings (secured/unguaranteed)  ......................................  0 
Long-term borrowings (unsecured/unguaranteed)  ..................................  0 
Total long term borrowing ....................................................................  6 

Current debt (secured/guaranteed)  ......................................................  1 
Current debt (secured/unguaranteed)  ...................................................  0 
Current debt (unsecured)  ....................................................................  0 

Total current debt ................................................................................  1 
Total capitalisation...............................................................................  7 
 
The following table shows the net indebtedness of Telio on a consolidated basis as per 31 
December 2012: 
 
Amounts in NOK million 31 December 2012 

(unaudited) 

  
A. Cash ..............................................................................................   
B. Cash equivalent ...............................................................................  52 

C. Trading securities ............................................................................  0 

D. Liquidity (A + B + C)  ......................................................................  52 
  
E. Current financial receivable ...............................................................  39 
  
F. Current bank debt ............................................................................  0 
G. Current portion of non-current debt* .................................................  0 
H. Other current financial debt ..............................................................  1 

I. Current financial debt (F + G + H) .....................................................  1 
  
J. Net current financial indebtedness (I - E - D)  ......................................  -90 
  
K. Non-current bank loans ....................................................................  0 

L. Bond issued ....................................................................................  0 
M. Other non-current loans ...................................................................  6 

  
N. Non-current financial indebtedness (K + L + M)  .................................  0 
  
O. Net financial indebtedness (J + N)  ....................................................  -84 

 
5.10.2 Borrowing, funding and restrictions on use of capital 

As of 31 December 2012, the Telio group had NOK 52 million in cash and NOK 0 million in 

unused draw on existing bank facilities, which lead to a total liquidity of NOK 52 million. 

As of the same date, the Telio group had NOK 7 million in interest bearing debt of which NOK 

1 million was short term interest bearing debt.  
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The Telio group‟s financial debt is issued by IBM Global Finance and relates to financial lease 

of CPE (customer premises equipment) and other equipment. The term of the financial lease 

contracts is 2 years.  

The Telio group's operational cash flow in 2012 was NOK 55 million and free cash flow 

(operational cash flow minus investments) was NOK 11 million. Changes in working capital 

had a negative effect of NOK 24 million on a yearly basis. This includes a non-recurring 

payment of VAT for previous years of NOK 50 million. Cash flow related to tax and finance was 

18 million negative. Investments increased during 2012 compared to 2011, mainly driven by 

increase in capitalized customer acquisition costs.  

Funds may be transferred to the Company from subsidiaries by way of dividends, intra-group 

loans or group contributions, where possible. Beside the below mentioned financial covenants 

there are no other limitations on the use of capital which directly or indirectly effects the 

Company. Information about the Telio group‟s funding and treasury policies can be found in 

the 2011 Annual Report, as incorporated by reference into this Information Memorandum.  

Telio has financed the Transaction by external loans for an amount corresponding to NOK 500 

million which as the following amortisation structure: 

   
Amortisation profile (NOK million) 

Facility Amount Tenor 2013 2014 2015 2016 

Term Loan NOK 200 million 3 years 25 60 75 40 

Bridge Loan NOK 300 million 6 + 3 months     

 

The term loan amortises through semi-annual repayments commencing 6 months following 

the drawdown of the loan at closing of the Transaction while the bridge loan is planned repaid 

in connection with settlement of a planned bond issue in 2013. Further, Telio has entered into 

an overdraft facility of NOK 30 million for working capital purposes. This overdraft facility is 

currently unused.  

The following covenants are attached to all loan agreements:  

 Financial covenant 

Revevant period ending Equity ratio 

Interest coverage  

(EBITDA based) 

Leverage 

(Net debt/EBITDA) 

30 June 2013 10.0% 5.00:1.00 2.4x 

30 September 2013 10.0% 5.00:1.00 2.3x 

31 December 2013 12.5% 5.00:1.00 2.1x 

31 March 2014 12.5% 5.00:1.00 1.9x 

30 June 2014 15.0% 5.00:1.00 1.7x 

31 December 2014 20.0% 5.00:1.00 1.5x 

30 June 2015 22.5% 5.00:1.00 1.5x 

31 December 2015 25.0% 5.00:1.00 1.5x 
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Telio is not in any violation with the covenants. 

5.11 Working capital statement 

In the opinion of Telio, the working capital is sufficient for the Company‟s present 

requirements, for at least the 12 months following the date of publication of this Information 

Memorandum. 

5.12 Shares and share capital 

5.12.1 Description of the shares and share capital 

Telio‟s registered share capital is NOK 2,328,318, divided into 23,283,180 shares, each with a 

nominal value of NOK 0.1. Telio holds 267,001 own shares and the number of shares 

outstanding will consequently be 23,016,179. 

The shares are issued in accordance with the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. All 

shares are issued in electronic form in the VPS on ISIN NO 0010199052. The Company‟s 

registrar is DNB Bank ASA, Issuer Services.  

The shares are equal in all respects and there are no different voting rights or classes of 

shares. Each share carries one vote at the General Meeting of Telio and all shares are freely 

transferable. 

The Shares are listed under ticker TELIO. The Shares are not (and no application has been 

filed for listing) on any other stock exchange or regulated market than Oslo Børs.  

5.12.2 Transferability and foreign ownership 

There are no restrictions on trading in the shares and no restrictions on foreign ownership of 

the shares.  

5.12.3 Outstanding authorisations 

5.12.3.1 Authorisation to the Board to issue shares 

On 12 April 2012, the General Meeting of Telio authorised the Board to increase the share 

capital by issuance of new shares, limited to a total share capital increase of NOK 944,635. 

After issuance of New Shares in connection with the Transaction the remaining authorisation 

represents a total share capital increase of NOK 555,587.  

The authorisation is valid until the annual General Meeting in 2013, but in any case no longer 

than 14 October 2013. 

5.12.3.2 Authorisation to the Board to acquire shares 

On 12 April 2012, the General Meeting of Telio authorised the Board to acquire the Company‟s 

own shares, limited to a maximum nominal value of the shares of NOK 193,927.  

The authorisation is valid until the annual General Meeting in 2013, but in any case no longer 

than 14 October 2013. 
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5.12.4 Historical development in share capital and number of shares 

For the three years starting 1 January 2009 to the closing of the Transaction, no change to the 

Company‟s share capital or shares has been registered. In connection with closing of the 

Transaction the Company issued 2,690,480 new shares as part of the consideration to 

TeliaSonera and issued 1,200,000 new shares to T. D. Veen AS. Following the issuance of the 

Consideration Shares and the shares issued to T. D. Veen AS the share capital of the Company 

increased by NOK 389,048 from NOK 1,939,270 to NOK 2,328,318 by the issue of 3,890,480 

New Shares.  The share capital of Telio is NOK 2,328,318, divided into 23,283,180 shares with 

a par value of NOK 0.10 per share.  

5.12.5 Ownership structure  

The 20 largest shareholders in Telio as registered by the VPS on 11 February 2012 and 

adjusted for the Consideration Shares, which registration in VPS is pending the publication of 

the national prospectus, were: 

Shareholder No. of shares Percentage 

TELIASONERA AB (the Consideration Shares)        2,690,480  11.56% 

VEEN A/S T.D.        2,119,704  9.10% 
TALIR HOLDING AS        2,010,000  8.63% 
XFILE AS        1,500,000  6.44% 
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK        1,204,400  5.17% 
FRANK MOHN A/S           930,000  3.99% 

SYNESI AS           750,000  3.22% 

VERDIPAPIRFONDET ALFRED BERG GAMBA           692,347  2.97% 
SANDNES INVESTERING AS           582,188  2.50% 
OPTINVEST II AS           515,502  2.21% 
SILJAN INDUSTRIER AS           515,502  2.21% 
STOREBRAND VEKST           510,408  2.19% 
ZICO AS           509,500  2.19% 
VICTORY LIFE -           486,897  2.09% 

SIRIUS AS           420,000  1.80% 
MIDELFART INVEST AS           410,000  1.76% 
AKER PENSJONSKASSE           329,887  1.42% 
CITIBANK NA LONDON BRANCH           300,000  1.29% 
NHO - P665AK           299,000  1.28% 
TELIO HOLDING ASA           260,001  1.12% 
Top 20    17,035,816  73.17% 
Other         6,247,364  26.83% 
TOTAL    23,283,180  100.00% 

Source: Oslo Børs VPS Arena 

Adjusted for the Consideration Shares, as at the date of this Information Memorandum, 

TeliaSonera AB owned 11.6% of the shares, T.D. Veen AS owned 9.1%, Talir Holding AS 

owned 8.6%, Xfile AS owned 6.4% and nominee account(s) with JPMorgan Chase Bank owned 

5.2% of the total Shares in the Company.  

On 1 March 2010, funds managed by Swedbank Robur purchased 100.000 shares in Telio at 

an average price of NOK 43 per share. Following the transaction Swedbank Robur owned 

1.036.000 shares in Telio, which represented 5.34% of the total number of shares 

outstanding.  
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Apart from these, Telio is not aware of any other persons or entities who, directly or indirectly, 

have an interest of 5% of more of the Shares.  

In accordance with the disclosure obligation under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act, 

shareholders acquiring ownership to or control over more than 5% of the share capital of a 

company listed on Oslo Børs must notify the stock exchange immediately. The table above 

shows the percentage held by such shareholders.  

5.13 Dividend policy 

Telio‟s dividend policy is to distribute an annual dividend to its shareholders. It is Telio's 

intention to return to its shareholders an amount of 2/3 of consolidated profit after tax. The 

dividend level is a balance between the shareholders wish for a regular direct return on 

investment and the company's need to retain capital for development of the business. 

Therefore, the level of dividend may be higher or lower than 2/3 of profit after tax, depending 

on the company‟s evaluation of expected cash flows, capital expenditure plans, financing 

requirements and appropriate financial flexibility. A dividend will be paid as soon as possible 

after a decision by the Annual General Meeting. The Company‟s dividend policy will be affected 

by the acquisition of NGT and the limited financial flexibility under the covenants of the loan 

agreements with Nordea. 

5.14 Additional Information 

5.14.1 Material contracts 

Except for the Transaction described in section 3, neither Telio nor any of the companies in the 

Telio group have entered into any material contracts outside the ordinary course of business 

over the last two years. 

5.14.2 Disputes  

Telio is not aware of any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such 

proceedings which are pending or threatened) which may have, or have had during the last 

twelve months, significant effects on Telio‟s financial position or profitability. 

5.15 Selected consolidated financial information  

5.15.1 General 

The selected consolidated financial data set forth in this section has been derived from Telio‟s 

fourth quarter 2012 unaudited financial statements and the audited financial statements for 

the financial years 2011, 2010 and 2009. Telio‟s annual reports for the years 2009 to 2011, 

including the auditor‟s reports, are incorporated by reference into this Information 

Memorandum.  

Telio‟s financial statements for the financial years 2009 to 2012 have been prepared in 

accordance with IFRS.  

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below may not contain all of the information 

that is important to a potential purchaser of shares in Telio, and the data should be read in 

conjunction with the relevant consolidated financial statements and the notes to those 

statements. 
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5.15.2 Summary of accounting policies 

Please see the annual report for 2011 and the fourth quarter report for 2012 as incorporated 

by reference into this Information Memorandum for a full summary of Telio‟s accounting 

policies.  

5.15.3 Consolidated profit and loss statement 

The table below summarizes the consolidated income statements for Telio for the years ended 

31 December 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and the three months ended 31 December 2012 

and 2011  

 As at or for 

the three 

months 

ended 

31 December 

As at or for 

the twelve 

months 

ended 

31 December 

As at or for the year 

ended 

31 December 

 (un-

audited) 

(un-

audited) 

(un-

audited) 

(audited

) 

(audited

) 

(audited

) 

(audite

d) 

NOK million 2012 2011 2012 2011 2011 2010 2009 

Total revenues .........................................  111 96 410 385 385 389 394 
Connection costs and traffic 
charges .....................................................  -52 -34 -162 -138 -138 -144 -147 

Payroll expenses ........................................  -22 -18 -69 -60 -60 -55 -52 

Marketing expenses ....................................  -6 -3 -26 -17 -17 -16 -15 

Other expenses ..........................................  -20 -15 -59 -49 -49 -41 -49 

Depreciation and amortisation ......................  -11 -10 -42 -39 -39 -42 -43 

VAT expense for previous years ....................  0 -50 0 -50 -50 0 0 

Operating profit .......................................  0 -34 53 33 33 91 86 

Net financial cost ........................................  1 -1 -2 -1 -1 -7 -11 

Profit before tax ......................................  1 -35 51 32 32 84 75 

Income tax expanse ...................................  -3 13 -14 -2 -2 -14 -12 

Profit for the year ....................................  -2 -22 37 30 30 69 64 

        

Foreign currency translation 
differences .................................................  -1 1 2 -2 -2 0 6 
Total comprehensive income 
for the year .............................................  -2 -21 38 29 29 69 70 
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5.15.4 Consolidated balance sheet 

The table below summarizes the consolidated balance sheet for Telio as of 31 December 2012, 

2011, 2010 and 2009. 

 As at or for the 

twelve months 

ended 

31 December 

As at or for the year 
ended 

31 December 

 (un-

audited) 

(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) 

NOK million 2012 2011 2011 2010 2009 

Non-current assets          

 Property, plant and equipment ................  10 13 13 19 22 

 Intangible assets ...................................   34 28 28 25 26 

 Deferred tax assets ...............................   11 6 6 4 5 

Total non-current assets .....................   56 48 48 48 53 

Current assets          

Inventories ............................................   2 11 11 2 0 

Trade and other receivable ......................   39 56 56 41 50 

Cash and cash equivalents .......................   52 94 94 69 142 

Total current assets .............................   94 161 161 112 192 

Total assets  ........................................  150 209 209 160 245 

          

          

Equity          

Share capital .........................................  2 2 2 2 2 

Share premium  .....................................  20 21 21 16 9 

Retained earnings...................................  -8 -1 -1 34 115 

Total equity .........................................  14 22 22 53 126 

          

Liabilities          

Loan and borrowings ..............................   1 3 3 2 3 

Total non-current liabilities .................   1 3 3 2 3 

Trade and other payables ........................   81 133 133 46 50 

Current tax liabilities ...............................   20 19 19 29 21 

Loan and borrowings ..............................   6 13 13 8 12 

Deferred income/revenue ........................   27 18 18 22 30 

Provisions ..............................................  1 1 1 1 3 

Total current liabilities ........................   135 184 184 106 116 

Total liabilities .....................................   136 187 187 108 119 

Total equity and liabilities ...................   150 209 209 160 245 

5.15.5 Cash flow statement 

The table below summarizes the consolidated cash flow statement for Telio for the years 

ended 31 December 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009.  
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 As at or for the 

twelve months 

ended 

31 December 

As at or for the year 
ended 

31 December 

 

 (un-

audited) 

(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) 

NOK million 2012 2011 2011 2010 2009 

Profit before tax for the year ........................  51 32 32 84 75 

Changes in inventories ................................  9 4 4 -2 0 

Change in trade and other payables ..............  -59 83 83 -11 -5 

Change in trade and other receivables ..........  17 -6 -6 3 11 

Change in deferred revenue .........................  8 -4 -4 -8 -12 

Net adjustments1 ........................................  29 18 18 33 54 

Net cash flow from operations .................  55 127 127 99 123 

           
Acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment .................................................  -1 -1 -1 -7 -4 

Acquisition of PPE through financial lease ......  -5 -9 -9 -8 0 

Acquisition of other investments 
(intangible assets) ......................................  -38 -27 -27 -22 -19 

Acquisition in subsidiaries ............................  0 0 0 -2 0 

Acquired cash ............................................  0 0 0 0 0 

Net cash flow from investments ..............  -44 -36 -36 -39 -23 

           

Payment of purchase of own shares ..............  0 -6 -6 -18 -6 

Proceeds for shares issued to employees .......  1 1 1 8 1 

New borrowings (financial lease) ..................  5 9 9 8 0 
Payment of liabilities related to financial 
leasing ......................................................  -14 -14 -14 -13 -17 

Dividends paid ...........................................  -48 -57 -57 -116 -58 

Net cash flow from financing ...................  -56 -68 -68 -131 -79 

           

Change in cash and cash equivalents ......  -45 23 23 -71 21 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 94 69 69  142 124 
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on 
cash held ...................................................  3 2 2 -3 -2 
Cash and equivalents at 31 

December ................................................  52 94 94 69 142 
  

1) Net adjustments for net financial costs, interest paid, interest received, realized forex exchange 

(gain/loss), income tax expense, depreciation, amortization of intangible assets and equity settled 

share-based transactions 

 

5.15.6 Segment information 

5.15.6.1 Business segments 

Telio specializes in the development, marketing and sales of IP-based services and 

communication solutions, and it operates only in this one business segment.  
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 As at or for the 

twelve months 

ended 

31 December 

As at or for the year ended 
31 December 

 (un-

audited) 

(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) 

NOK million 2012 2011 2011 2010 2009 

SEGMENT      
      
IP based services and 
communication solutions ...................................  409.8 385.2 385.2 388.9 393.9 
       

Total .............................................................  409.8 385.2 385.2 388.9 393.9 

 
5.15.6.2 Geographical segments 

Telio‟s activities are divided between Norway, Denmark, the Netherlands and Switzerland and 

are based on where the customer is domiciled. 

 As at or for the 

twelve months 

ended 

31 December 

As at or for the year ended 
31 December 

 (un-

audited) 

(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) 

NOK million 2012 2011 2011 2010 2009 

SEGMENT      
The turnover has the following 
division between the main segments 
for the Company's geographical 
activity.   

 

 

 

Norway .................................................................  315.9 297.8 297.8 312.1 334.3 
Denmark.......................................................  36.8 38.5 38.5 40.8 40.6 

Netherlands ..................................................  39.4 35.7 35.7 31.7 19.1 
Switzerland ...................................................  17.7 13.3 13.3 4.3 0 
       
Total ...........................................................  409.8 385.2 385.2 388.9 393.9 

 
5.15.7 Significant change in Telio’s financial or trading positions since 31 December 2012  

Since 31 December 2012, there has been no significant change in Telio‟s financial or trading 

position.  

5.15.8 Statutory auditors  

The historical financial information for Telio for the last three years has been audited by KPMG 

AS, registration number 935 174 627, with registered business address at Sørkedalsveien 6, 

N-0306 Oslo, Norway. KPMG AS is member of Den Norske Revisorforening (the Norwegian 

Institute of Public Accountants).  

KPMG has conducted the audit in accordance with laws, regulations and auditing standards 

and practices generally accepted in Norway, including the auditing standards adopted by the 

Norwegian Institute of Public Accountants.  
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The auditor‟s reports do not express a qualified opinion and does not include any comments on 

specific point. KPMG has issued an assurance report on the preliminary pro forma financial 

information included in Section 4.1, which assurance report is included in Appendix 2. 

5.16 Incorporation by reference - historical financial information  

Oslo Børs‟ “Continuing Obligations for Listed Companies” allow Telio to “incorporate by 

reference” information in this Information Memorandum that has been previously filed with 

Oslo Børs in other documents. 

The Company hereby incorporates the following documents by reference into this Information 

Memorandum: 

 its quarterly report for the fourth quarter 2012, including annual figures for the year 

ended 31 December 2012, available at www.telioholding.no 

 its annual report for the year ended 31 December 2011, available at 

www.telioholding.no 

 its annual report for the year ended 31 December 2010, available at 

www.telioholding.no 

 its annual report for the year ended 31 December 2009, available at 

www.telioholding.no 

 

The information incorporated by reference into this Information Memorandum should be read 

in connection with the cross-reference list below. 

All the relevant information can be found on Telio‟s webpage www.telioholding.no.  

Cross Reference Table Relating to Information Incorporated by Reference:  

Section in 
Information 
Memorandum 

Disclosure 
requirements 
of the 
Information 
Memorandum 

Reference document and link Page (P) 
in 
reference 
document  

Section 5.15 Unaudited 
interim report  

Telio – interim report for the three 
months and year ended 31 December 
2012: 
http://www.telioholding.no/investor_relat
ions/reports_presentations/quarterly_rep
orts/q4_2012 

 

P 4 

Section 5.15  Audited 
historical 
financial 
information 
(Annex I, 
Section 20.1) 

Telio – financial statements 2011: 

http://www.telioholding.no/investor_relat
ions/reports_presentations/annual_report
s/annual_report_2011 

 

Telio – Director‟s report 2011: 

http://www.telioholding.no/investor_relat
ions/reports_presentations/annual_report
s/annual_report_2011 

P 11 
 
 
 
 
 

P 3 
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Telio – financial statements 2010: 

http://www.telioholding.no/investor_relat
ions/reports_presentations/annual_report

s/annual_report_2010 

Telio – Director‟s report 2010: 

P 10 
 
 

 
 
P 3  

http://www.telioholding.no/investor_relat
ions/reports_presentations/annual_report
s/annual_report_2010 

 

  Telio – financial statements 2009: P 9 

  http://www.telioholding.no/investor_relat
ions/reports_presentations/annual_report
s/annual_report_2009 

 

  Telio – Director‟s report 2009: P 1 

  http://www.telioholding.no/investor_relat
ions/reports_presentations/annual_report

s/annual_report_2009 
 

 

Section 5.15.8 Audit report 
(Annex I, 
Section 20.4.1) 

Telio – Auditor‟s report 2011: 

http://www.telioholding.no/investor_relat
ions/reports_presentations/annual_report

s/annual_report_2011  

P 53 

 

Telio – Auditor‟s report 2010: 

 

 
P 50 

http://www.telioholding.no/investor_re

lations/reports_presentations/annual_re

ports/annual_report_2010 

 

Telio – Auditor‟s report 2009: 

http://www.telioholding.no/investor_relat
ions/reports_presentations/annual_report

s/annual_report_2009 
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Section 5.15.2 Accounting 
policies (Annex 
I, Section 20.1) 

Telio – Accounting principles (annual 
report 2011): 

 

 
P 15 
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6 PRESENTATION OF NEXTGENTEL  

Unless otherwise indicated, the source of the information in this section is NextGenTel. 

6.1 Overview  

NextGenTel is a provider of broadband and data communication services to consumer and 

corporate customers. In addition, NextGenTel offers telephony (VoIP) and television (IPTV) 

services to consumer customers. NextGenTel was founded in 2000 and is currently the second 

largest provider of DSL-based (copper lines) broadband, only behind the incumbent player 

Telenor. NextGenTel has its own equipment and an attractive geographical footprint in Norway 

covering approximately 60% of Norwegian households. For the remaining 40% of Norwegian 

households, NextGenTel offers broadband services through a wholesale agreement with 

Telenor. 

NextGenTel has two wholly owned subsidiaries, Broadpark AS (dormant) and Sandslimarka 31 

AS (dormant but with ownership of the offices used by NextGenTel in Bergen). 

NextGenTel is a Norwegian public limited liability company organised under the laws of 

Norway, with business registration number 981 649 141, and registered office at Sandslimarka 

31, N-5254 Sandsli, Norway, telephone number +47 55 52 79 00. The legal and commercial 

name of NextGenTel is NextGenTel AS. The Company was incorporated on 1 March 2000 and 

registered in the Norwegian Register of Business Enterprises on 7 March 2000.  

6.2 History 

In association with the deregulation of the Norwegian telecom market, NextGenTel was 

founded in 2000 as a challenger in the market by six private individuals with previous 

experience from the telecom industry. The cornerstone of the Company was the xDSL 

technology. In the coming years, NextGenTel experienced high growth leveraging its strong 

position in the fast growing broadband market resulting in the owners‟ decision to list the 

company on the Oslo Stock Exchange in 2003. As the frontrunner in the Norwegian broadband 

market, NextGenTel was the first telecom company in Norway to offer television services over 

xDSL technology in 2005 as well as VDSL technology in 2009.  

To further expand its operations NextGenTel acquired the Norwegian broadband providers 

FirstMile, PC Support Bredbånd and LOS in 2005 to strengthen its presence in Southern 

Norway and Oslo. In 2006, NextGenTel acquired the broadband provider Fosen Link to 

strengthen its presence in mid-Norway. These four acquisitions resulted in an increase in the 

subscriber base of approximately 20,000 subscribers. In 2009, NextGenTel acquired Tele2‟s 

Norwegian fixed broadband and VoIP operations, adding approximately 70,000 broadband 

customers. NextGenTel remained listed until 2006, when TeliaSonera acquired the Company in 

order to establish a broadband presence in Norway. NextGenTel has a customer base 

representing approximately 213,000 revenue generating units (RGUs) per December 2012. 

Year Milestone 

2000 ..................................................................................................   NextGenTel founded 
2003 ..................................................................................................  Listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange 
2005 ..................................................................................................  Frist provider of national television services distributed via xDSL 
2005 ..................................................................................................  Acquisition of the broadband providers FirstMile, PC Support Bredbånd 
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and LOS 
2006 ..................................................................................................  Acquisition of Fosen Link 
2006 ..................................................................................................  Delisted and acquired by TeliaSonera 
2009 ..................................................................................................  Introduction of VDSL broadband services 

2009 ..................................................................................................  Acquisition of Tele2‟s Norwegian fixed broadband and VoIP customers 
 

6.3 Business Overview 

6.3.1 General 

NextGenTel offers broadband services aiming at providing good user experiences to its 

customers. The Company divides its service offering into two main categories, Consumer and 

Corporate. The product portfolio is constantly developed to keep pace with the latest 

technology updates in the market as well as customer demand. NextGenTel offers fixed 

broadband (ADSL, VDSL and fiber), as well as 3G and 4G mobile broadband in co-operation 

with NetCom. In addition, the Company offers telephony (VoIP) and television (IPTV) services 

to its Consumer customers as well as data communication solutions and unified 

communication solutions to its Corporate customers. NextGenTel‟s VoIP and IPTV services are 

currently based on third-party products. 

6.3.2 Consumer offering 

6.3.2.1 Broadband 

NextGenTel is recognised as a high quality provider of broadband services based on xDSL 

technology in Norway. The current selection of ADSL and VDSL broadband services includes 

download capacities of 2 – 40 Mbit/s, thereby fulfilling the needs of most private consumers. 

For customers with higher bandwidth requirements, NextGenTel offers optic fiber connections 

in certain geographical areas.  

NextGenTel offers mobile broadband in cooperation with NetCom. NextGenTel also has a 

combined fixed and mobile broadband product, “broadband everywhere”, for customers 

demanding the highest flexibility, also including free access to HomeRun Wireless Zones 

around the world. 

6.3.2.2 Telephony (VoIP) 

NextGenTel introduced VoIP services in the consumer market in 2004, through the service 

“NextPhone”, providing low price fixed telephony services over the broadband connection. The 

current selection of VoIP services is offered in three packages; small, medium and large 

depending on the level of usage. 

6.3.2.3 Television (IPTV) 

NextGenTel provides television services based on ADSL and VDSL broadband technology to its 

Consumer broadband customers in cooperation with TeliaSonera. The customer offering 

includes: 

 A large selection of TV channels and TV-packages 

 HDTV with high quality images and digital sound 

 A vast collection of movies in the “Film Kiosk” – easily ordered via the remote control 
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 On Demand services  

TV content is offered by TeliaSonera using NextGenTel‟s distribution network in Norway. The 

flexible TV offering is based on a number of television packages offered in the price range of 

NOK 0 – 529 per month. TV services are divided into basic packages, add-on packages and 

single channels. The price range for add-on packages is between NOK 0 – 319 and NOK 29 – 

149 for single channels. NextGenTel also offers value-adding interactive television services 

including movie rental, program library, Play-services and radio channels. 

6.3.3 Corporate offering 

NextGenTel offers its Corporate customers a full service offering within data communication 

including broadband, IP-VPN solutions, telephony and unified communication services as well 

as additional services. Internal data communication services refer to data communication 

solutions and cross border products to TeliaSonera. 

6.3.3.1 Broadband 

NextGenTel offers its Corporate customers professional broadband solutions at affordable 

prices through its “Internet standard” packages and extended usage through “Internet Plus” 

service. NextGenTel also offers tailor made fiber solutions to corporates based on individual 

requirements and location. 

6.3.3.2 Telephony (VoIP) 

NextGenTel offers both fixed and mobile (in cooperation with Netcom) telephony services for 

internal and external communication to corporates. The corporate VoIP service is part of the 

broadband service offering and can be linked to unified communication solutions to improve 

the customer experience and communication efficiency. All phone calls are delivered through 

NextGenTel‟s secure broadband network providing a possibility to upgrade bandwidth for 

additional phone calls. 

6.3.3.3 Data communication solutions 

NextGenTel offers virtual private network solutions (IP-VPN) to corporates in all industries and 

of all sizes. Based on a safe and flexible network, NextGenTel offers tailor made network 

solutions, combining flexibility and functionality, enabling its customers to achieve optimal 

solutions covering all their needs and requirements. NextGenTel‟s IP-VPN product, DataNet, 

provides a virtual private network with high security and functionality based on the most up to 

date solutions in the market. Only one agreement for the whole solution is needed, reducing 

the administrative work load for the corporations and NextGenTel alike. Together with the IP-

VPN solutions, NextGenTel often sells one of its high quality service level agreements (SLA) 

providing the best possible service for customers in case of a network error. 

 Service level agreements (SLA): Ensures high quality and efficient service in case of 

network connection failures. NextGenTel guarantees to solve the problem within a 

certain time frame and will otherwise compensate the customer. Service agreements 

are offered for different levels of service at different prices. 

 Payment solutions: Secure VPN connections with latest technology for both small and 

large corporate customers are offered for secure money transactions. The IP-VPN 
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solution sends encrypted signals in the public network and is tailored to the customer 

needs. In addition, the VPN can be connected to the inventory system automating the 

purchasing and inventory management. 

 HomeRun: Solutions for corporate wireless connections on company premises. The 

network is separate from the ordinary company network and is maintained by 

NextGenTel. The network can be used by employees or offered to visitors. 

 Unified communication (UC): Enables the customer to unify all data communication 

services to one single platform providing efficient and easy data communication that 

will save time and money for corporations. The UC platform can e.g. include VoIP, live 

meetings, teleconferences, chat, integrated switchboard, integrated call centre etc. 

6.4 Segmentation 

6.4.1 Business segments 

The Company divides its service offering into two main categories, Consumer and Corporate. 

For further segment details see sections 6.3.1, 6.3.2 and 6.3.3. 

6.4.1.1 Total revenues 

 As at or for the year ended 
31 December 

 (un-audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) 

NOK million 2012 2011 2010 2009 

Broadband ............................................................  846 840 889 831 
VoIP .............................................................  29 49 65 68 
IPTV .............................................................  43 28 17 19 

      
Total ...........................................................  918 917 970 916 
 

6.4.1.2 Consumer segment 

 As at or for the year ended 
31 December 

 (un-audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) 

NOK million 2012 2011 2010 2009 

Broadband ............................................................  615 605 671 664 
VoIP .............................................................  26 47 63 66 
IPTV .............................................................  43 28 17 17 
      

Total ...........................................................  684 680 751 747 
   

6.4.1.3 Corporate segment 

 As at or for the year ended 
31 December 

 (un-audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) 

NOK million 2012 2011 2010 2009 

Broadband ............................................................  231 235 218 167 
VoIP .............................................................  3 2 2 2 
      
Total ...........................................................  234 237 220 169 
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6.4.2 Geographical segments 

NextGenTel operates only in Norway.   

6.5 Board of Directors, Management and employees 

6.5.1 Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors of NextGenTel consists of: 

Name Principal activities  

Arne Reinemo (Chairman) ........................  Partner at Creo Advisors 

Espen Fjogstad (Board Member) ................   Investor/Entrepreneur 

Tom Nøttveit (Board Member) ...................  CFO in Telio 

Svein Ole Skrivervik (Board Member).........  CTO in Telio 

Cecilie Moe Garmannslund (Board Member, 

employee representative) .........................  

Head of Operational Excellence at 

NextGenTel 

Geir Jensen (Board Member,  

employee representative) .........................  

Head of RLC Norway at NextGenTel 

Vidar Skogedal (Board Member,  

employee representative) .........................  

Service Manager at NextGenTel 

None of the members of the Board hold any shares, or has any options for shares, in 

NextGenTel.  

Arne Reinemo, Chairman of the Board: Mr. Reinemo is a Partner at Creo Advisors, an 

advisory and consulting company he co-founded in 2001. He has recent experience as 

Investment Director at Kistefos AS, and interim CEO at Trio AB, a publicly listed Swedish 

software company. Mr. Reinemo has also worked as Engagement Manager with McKinsey & 

Co. and as associate at SBC Warburg, Elcon Securities and Vital Insurance and has served as a 

Board Member of several companies including Sysdeco AS (Chairman), Global IP Sound AB, 

Mimer AB (Chairman) and Carrot Communications. Mr. Reinemo holds an MBA with Honors 

from the University of Chicago and an MSc in Business (Siviløkonom) from the Norwegian 

School of Economics and Business Adminstration (NHH). 

Espen Fjogstad, Board member: Espen Fjogstad has a MSc degree in Engineering Physics 

from Norwegian Institute of Technology in 1988. He started his career as a McKinsey Fellow, 

completing a McKinsey sponsored MBA at INSEAD in 1990. After receiving his MBA at INSEAD 

he stayed with McKinsey for four years, working with a range of strategy and operational 

improvement projects for a number of clients. In 1994, he became CEO of ODIN Reservoir 

Software, a company established by IBM and Norwegian Computing Centre (NCC) to 

commercialize research in stochastic reservoir modelling developed at NCC. ODIN was bought 

by Roxar ASA in 1995, where Fjogstad stayed on as Deputy Managing Director until 1997. 

Since 1997, he has worked as investor investor/entrepreneur, working with a range of 

technology companies.  He is a co-founder of Telio and served as Telio's CEO from 2003 to 

2005  
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Tom Nøttveit, Board member: Description is included in section 5.9.2  

Svein Ole Skrivervik, Board member: Description is included in section 5.9.2   

Cecilie Moe Garmannslund, Board member (employee representative): Mrs. 

Garmannslund is the Head of Operational Excellence at NextGenTel. She has been with the 

company for 6 years, first as acting Head of Deliveries, then as Head of Centre for Sales 

Assistance, and up to 2011 as Head of Billing & Control. Mrs Garmannslund holds a degree in 

Phonetics and Linguistics from the University of Bergen, a BSc in System Development and 

Programming from the Norwegian School of IT (NITH) and an MBA from Griffith University and 

Queensland University of Technology. 

Geir Jensen, Board member (employee representative): Prior to assuming the position 

as Head of RLC Norway, Mr. Jensen was the CTO of Umoe IKT. He previously held senior 

positions in Helse Vest IKT, Enitel and ID, where he worked with development of software 

from Telecom companies. Mr. Jensen holds an MSc in Computer Science from the university of 

Bergen. 

Vidar Skogedal, Board member (employee representative): Mr. Skogedal is a Service 

Manager with NextGenTel. After joining the company in 2003 he has held positions in most 

departments, most recently as a System Developer in the IT Delivery department. Mr. 

Skogedal holds a MSc in Computer Science from Bergen University College. 

6.5.2 Management 

The present group management consists of five executives. The following table lists the 

present members of NextGenTel‟s executive management including their positions.  

Name Position 

Eirik Lunde .............................................  CEO 

Jørn Hodne  ............................................  COO and CTO 

Roy Børsheim .........................................  Head of Consumer Segment 

Per Heiberg-Andersen ..............................  Head of Business Segment 

Torbjørn Fauskanger ................................  Head of Human Resources 

Tore Nyhammer ......................................  Head of Customer Service 

 

Eirik Lunde, CEO (born 1965):  Description is included in section 5.9.2 

Jørn Hodne, COO and CTO (born 1966): Mr. Hodne was appointed COO and CTO in 

February 2013. Mr Hodne has long experience within the Telecom Industry, holding positions 

such as Vice President TeliaSonera Networks (2012), Director TeliaSonera Broadband 

Networks Resources Lifecycle (2011), NextGenTel CTO (2007-2011), NextGenTel Director 

Networks (2005-2007) and Accenture (1993 – 2003). Mr. Hodne holds a Master of Science 

from Norwegian Institute of Technology (NTH/NTNU). 
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Roy Børsheim, Head of Consumer Segment (born 1964): Mr. Børsheim was appointed 

Head of Consumer Segment in February 2013 following a position as Head of Sales Consumer 

and SME. Mr. Børsheim has prior experience from Atea, holding positions as Sales and 

Marketing Director (2000-2008) , CEO from Umoe Communication (2008-2009)  and Director 

Sales and Business Development at Umoe  IKT (2009-20011). Mr Børsheim has a degree  in 

Economics and Business Administration from Norwegian Business School (BI). 

Per Heiberg-Andersen, Head of Business Segment (born 1970): Mr. Heiberg-Andersen 

was appointed Head Business Segment in February 2013 following a position as Head of 

Business and Consumer Segment. Prior experience from Telenor, holding positions such as 

Regional Manager (2004-2010) and Marketing Manager (2000-2004), and from Oracle. Mr. 

Heiberg-Andersen holds a Master of Science in Economics and Business Administration from 

Norges Handelshøyskole (NHH) and Universität zu Köln. 

Torbjørn Fauskanger, Head of Human Resources (born 1973): Mr. Fauskanger joined 

NextGenTel in 2007 as HR Manager and was appointed Vice President HR in 2011. Prior 

experience as HR Manager and Consultant at IKEA (2001-2007). Mr. Fauskanger holds a 

degree from the University of Bergen and University of Stavanger.  

Tore Nyhammer, Head of Customer Service (born 1966): Mr. Nyhammer joined 

NextGenTel in 2001 and has held various positions within the Company, including Sales 

Director and Key Account Manager, until he was appointed Head of Customer Service in 2012. 

Prior experience as Sales Manager at Frydenbø Bilsenter (1993-2001).Mr. Nyhammer holds a 

Master of Science in Economics and Business Administration from Norges Handelshøyskole 

(NHH). 

6.5.3 Employees  

As of year-end 2012, NextGenTel had 267 permanent employees. The table below illustrates 

the development in number of employees over the last four years, as per the end of each 

calendar year. 

 2012 2011 2010 2009 

Number of permanent man years ...........  
267 294 282 262 

Number of temporary man years ............  
85 79 81 85 

Total number of man years ................  
352 368 363 347 

 

6.6 Additional Information 

6.6.1 Ownership structure 

NextGenTel is a wholly owned subsidiary of Telio Holding ASA. 

6.6.2 Material contracts  

Neither NextGenTel nor any of the companies in the NextGenTel have entered into any 

material contracts outside the ordinary course of business over the last two years.  
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6.6.3 Disputes 

NextGenTel is not aware of any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any 

such proceedings which are pending or threatened) which may have, or have had during the 

last twelve months, significant effects on NextGenTel‟s financial position or profitability. 

6.7 Selected consolidated financial information  

The selected consolidated financial data set forth in this section has been derived from 

NextGenTel‟s audited financial statements for the financial years 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009. 

NextGenTel‟s annual reports for the years 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009, including the auditor‟s 

reports, are included in this Information Memorandum as Appendix 2.  

NextGenTel‟s financial statements for the financial years 2009 to 2012 have been prepared in 

accordance with IFRS.  

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with the 

relevant consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements. 

6.7.1 Consolidated profit and loss statement  

The table below summarizes the consolidated income statements for NextGenTel for the years 

ended 31 December 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009.  

 As at or for the year ended 

31 December 

 (un-audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) 

NOK million 2012 2011 2010 2009 

Total sales revenues ................................  918 917 970 916 

Cost of goods and services sold ....................  467 462 487 450 

Payroll expenses ........................................  154 161 164 140 

Depreciation and amortization expenses ........  121 143 152 152 

Other operating expenses  ...........................  167 167 171 163 

Operating profit/loss ...............................  10 -15 -3 12 

Financial income .........................................  4 5 4 5 

Financial expenses  .....................................  0 0 -1 -2 

Operating profit/loss before tax ..............  13 -10 1 15 

Tax on ordinary result .................................  4 -3 0 4 

Profit/loss for the year ............................  e 9 -8 0 11 
 

6.7.2 Consolidated balance sheet 

The table below summarizes the consolidated balance sheet for NextGenTel as of 31 

December 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009.  
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 As at or for the year ended 
31 December 

 (un-audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) 

NOK million 2012 2011 2010 2009 

ASSETS       

Intangible assets .....................................  196 184 181 206 

Deferred tax assets .................................  7 4 0 0 

Property and land ....................................  53 54 54 53 

Machinery and equipment (leased) ............    201 0 6 14 

Machinery and fixtures .............................    0 209 236 256 

Capitalized cost .......................................  0 1 2 4 

Other non-current receivables ...................  0 0 0 0 

Non-current assets ...............................  457 451 479 533 

  
  

 

Accounts receivables ................................  152 131 116 135 

Other receivables ....................................  38 24 8 8 

Cash and equivalents ...............................  189 227 202 151 

Current assets ......................................  379 382 326 294 

Total assets ..........................................  836 833 805 827 

  
  

 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  
 

  
 

Issued capital .........................................  375 375 375 375 

Share premium .......................................  281 281 281 281 

Accumulated profit and loss ......................  -69 -79 -71 -71 

Equity ...................................................  587 577 585 585 

     

Deferred tax liability ................................  0 0 2 1 

Non-current liabilities ..........................  0 0 2 1 

  
  

 

Accounts payable ....................................  78 89 56 64 

Public duties payable ...............................  16 18 18 32 

Tax payable ............................................  7 2 0 0 

Other current liabilities .............................  147 147 143 145 

Current liabilities ..................................  249 256 218 241 

Total liabilities ......................................  249 256 219 243 

Equity and liabilities .............................  836 833 805 827 
 

6.7.3 Cash flow statement 

The table below summarizes the consolidated cash flow statement for NextGenTel for the 

years ended 31 December 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009.  

 As at or for the year ended 
31 December 

 (un-audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) 

NOK million 2012 2011 2010 2009 

Net profit before tax ................................  13 -10 1 15 

Ordinary depreciation ..............................  121 143 152 152 

Net financial expenses .............................  -3 -5 -4 -3 

Change in accounts receivables .................  -21 -15 19 -107 

Change in accounts payables ....................  -11 33 -8 7 
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 As at or for the year ended 
31 December 

 (un-audited) (audited) (audited) (audited) 

NOK million 2012 2011 2010 2009 

Received interest .....................................  4 5 4 5 

Changes in other accrued entries ..............  -17 -14 -13 65 

Net cash flow from operating activities  86 137 151 135 

     

Investment in non-current assets ..............  -123 -122 -98 -116 

Proceeds from disposal of assets ...............  0 10 0 6 

Acquisition of business .............................  0 0 0 -79 

Net cash flow from investing activities .  -123 -112 -98 -189 

     

Payment of liabilities ................................   0 0 -2 -7 

Paid interest ...........................................   0 0 -1 -2 

Net cash flow from financing activities .   0 0 -3 -9 

     

Net change in cash and equivalents .....   -38 25 51 -63 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of period ..............................   227 202 151 214 
Cash and cash equivalents at period 

end .......................................................  189 227 202 151 
 

6.7.4 Trends and events since end of the last financial year to the date of the registration 

document  

NextGenTel has not experienced any changes or trends outside the ordinary course of 

business that are significant to NextGenTel between 31 December 2012 and the date of this 

Information Memorandum. 

The board of Telio expects no significant short term changes in the markets and business 

environment in which NextGenTel operates and since 31 December 2012, there has been no 

significant change in NextGenTel‟s financial or trading position. 
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7 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

7.1 Documents on Display  

Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at Telio‟s registered office 

during normal business hours on Monday to Friday each week (except public holidays) for a 

period 12 months from the date of this Information Memorandum: 

 the Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association of Telio; 

 all reports, letters and other documents, historical financial information, evaluations 

and expert opinions prepared on request from the Company, which is partly or fully 

incorporated, or referred to in the Information Memorandum;  

 the audited financial statements of Telio and its subsidiaries for the years ended 31 

December 2011, 2010, 2009 and unaudited full-year figures for the financial year 

ending 31 December 2012, with comparable figures for the same period in 2011; and 

 this Information Memorandum. 

Copies of this Information Memorandum may also be obtained from Arctic Securities during 

the same 12 month period. 

7.2 Confirmation regarding sources  

The information in this Information Memorandum that has been sourced from third parties has 

been accurately reproduced and as far as Telio is aware and able to ascertain from information 

published by that third party, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced 

information inaccurate or misleading. The source of third party information is identified where 

used. 
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8  DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TERMS  

Arctic Securities ...............................  Arctic Securities ASA, business registration number 991 

125 175. 

Articles ...........................................  The Company‟s Articles of Association. 

Company .........................................  Telio Holding ASA, or, where the context requires, Telio 

Holding ASA and its subsidiaries collectively. Also 

defined as Telio. 

Corporate Governance Code ..............  Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance 

published on 21 October 2009 by the Norwegian 

Corporate Governance Board. 

Information Memorandum ................. T This information memorandum. 

New Shares .....................................  The new shares to be issued as consideration in the 

Transaction and the shares to be issued to T. D. Veen 

AS. 

NextGenTel ......................................  NextGenTel AS, business registration number 981 649 

141. 

Shares ............................................  All the outstanding shares of Telio Holding ASA from 

time to time.  

TeliaSonera ..................................... Te Telia Sonera AB, business registration number 556103-

4249. 

Telio ............................................... Te Telio Holding ASA, business registration number 985 

968 098. 

Transaction ......................................  The acquisition of NextGenTel AS by Telio Holding ASA. 

  

  

 



 

 Appendix 1: Independent Assurance Report on pro forma information 

 







 

Appendix 2: Financial statements for NextGenTel AS 

                      



















































































































































































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Telio Holding ASA 

Harbitzalleen 2A,  

P.O. Box 54 Skøyen 

N-0212 Oslo, Norway 

Telephone: +47 21 96 49 10 

Telefax: +47 21 67 35 01 

www.telioholding.no 

www.telio.no 

 

 

Arctic Securities ASA 

Haakon VII’s Gate 5 

P.O. Box 1833 Vika 

NO-0123 Oslo, Norway 

Telephone: +47 21 01 31 00 

Telefax: +47 21 01 31 37 

www.arcticsec.no 
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